

LUND UNIVERSITY

Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress

Rydström, Anna

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Rydström, Á. (2024). Hematopoietíc stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Laboratory Medicine]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: CC BY

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Gata2

Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress

ANNA RYDSTRÖM

DEPARTMENT OF LABORATORY MEDICINE | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress

Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress

Anna Rydström



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 18 of January 2024 at 09.00 in Belfrage lecture hall, BMC D15, Klinikgatan 32, Lund

> Faculty opponent Michael Milsom

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral thesis

Author(s): Anna Rydström

Date of issue January 18, 2024

Sponsoring organization:

Title and subtitle: Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress

Abstract: The hematopoietic system can be viewed as a hierarchical tree structure with the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) at the apex, and the multitude of effector cells at the bottom. At homeostasis, HSCs reside in close contact with bone marrow niche cells that provide signals to keep them in a quiescent state. During conditions of severe stress, inflammatory cytokines from immune and niche cells activate the entire HSC population to proliferate. Once inflammation is cleared and the hematopoietic balance is restored, the HSCs return to guiescence.

Due to their ability to self-renew and to give rise to all cells of the hematopoietic system, HSCs are the reason why hematopoietic stem cell transplantations can replace an entire hematopoietic system and thereby provide a lifelong cure for many hematological diseases. However, proliferation of HSCs is linked to decreased reconstitution potential and must be tightly regulated during stress conditions to ensure long-term functionality. In addition, programs regulating stemness and differentiation are dysregulated in many leukemias. For these reasons it is a long-standing goal to understand the mechanisms and genes regulating the transition between activation and guiescence in HSCs.

The work in this thesis has focused on the dynamic processes of hematopoiesis during regenerative stress, and especially the changes occurring in HSCs after transplantation. We performed a comprehensive profiling of hematopoietic stem and progenitors following transplantation. We found an initial expansion of progenitors producing megakaryocytes and erythrocytes, while the HSC population is regenerating over an extended period of time. We observed a progressive recovery of HSC reconstitution potential with time and identified a set of genes with gradual expression changes that might be important for regulation of HSC activation. We further wanted to improve the identification of functional regenerating HSCs and found the cell surface protein Macrophage-1 antigen (MAC-1) to be transiently expressed after transplantation. MAC-1 expression correlated with HSC functionality and identified a molecularly distinct subpopulation that are the first to return to quiescence. Finally, we investigated how different conditioning regimens can be used to analyse properties in HSCs important for engraftment after transplantation. We compared irradiation conditioning to a conditional Gata2 knockout mouse model which allowed selective and temporally controlled depletion of HSCs. When HSCs from different genetic backgrounds were transplanted in a competitive setting to these mice, we observed that even small differences in HSC proliferation and adhesion gave fundamentally different outcomes in engraftment depending on the type of conditioning. Collectively, this work provide new insights on important features of HSC regeneration after transplantation, knowledge that can advance future investigations and clinical applications.

Key words: Hematopoietic stem cell, transplantation, regeneration, stress

Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Language English ISBN: 978-91-8021-501-5 Recipient's notes Price

Supplementary bibliographical information ISSN and key title: 1652-8220

Number of pages: 70 Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the abovementioned dissertation.

Signature Aun Mpt

Date 2023-12-05

Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics during regenerative stress

Anna Rydström



Cover by Anna Rydström Copyright pp 1-70 Anna Rydström

Paper 1 © Elsevier Science Inc Paper 2 © Cell Press Paper 3 © Cell Press

Faculty of Medicine Department of Laboratory Medicine

ISBN 978-91-8021-501-5 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

Till Ella och Axel

Table of Contents

Abstract	10
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	11
List of publications	13
Articles included in this thesis	13
Articles not included in this thesis	13
Abbreviations	14
Introduction	15
What are stem cells and why are they important?	15
What is the hematopoietic system and why is it important?	16
Methods to study HSCs	18
HSC identification and isolation	18
Methods to evaluate HSC function and traits	19
The hematopoietic stem cell	25
A brief history of the discovery of HSCs	25
Ontogeny of the hematopoietic system	25
HSCs during homeostasis	26
TISCS during stress	52
Aims of the thesis	35
Summary of results	36
Discussion	40
The role of HSCs in steady state versus stress hematopoiesis	40
Functional decline as a consequence of transplantation	42
Regulation of activation and quiescence in HSCs	43
HSC activation, a one-lane or multi-lane path?	44
Driving forces of HSC activation	46
The niche in steady state and after transplantation	47
Niche space versus outnumbering competition	47
Prospects of conditioning	47
Closing remarks	48
Acknowledgements	50
References	52

Abstract

The hematopoietic system can be viewed as a hierarchical tree structure with the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) at the apex, and the multitude of effector cells at the bottom. At homeostasis, HSCs reside in close contact with bone marrow niche cells that provide signals to keep them in a quiescent state. During conditions of severe stress, inflammatory cytokines from immune and niche cells activate the entire HSC population to proliferate. Once inflammation is cleared and the hematopoietic balance is restored, the HSCs return to quiescence.

Due to their ability to self-renew and to give rise to all cells of the hematopoietic system, HSCs are the reason why hematopoietic stem cell transplantations can replace an entire hematopoietic system and thereby provide a lifelong cure for many hematological diseases. However, proliferation of HSCs is linked to decreased reconstitution potential and must be tightly regulated during stress conditions to ensure long-term functionality. In addition, programs regulating stemness and differentiation are dysregulated in many leukemias. For these reasons it is a long-standing goal to understand the mechanisms and genes regulating the transition between activation and quiescence in HSCs.

The work in this thesis has focused on the dynamic processes of hematopoiesis during regenerative stress, and especially the changes occurring in HSCs after transplantation. We performed a comprehensive profiling of hematopoietic stem and progenitors following transplantation and found an initial expansion of progenitors producing megakaryocytes and erythrocytes, while the HSC population is regenerating over an extended period of time. We observed a progressive recovery of HSC reconstitution potential with time and identified a set of genes with gradual expression changes that might be important for regulation of HSC activation. We further wanted to improve the identification of functional regenerating HSCs and found the cell surface protein Macrophage-1 antigen (MAC-1) to be transiently upregulated after transplantation. MAC-1 expression correlated with HSC functionality and identified a molecularly distinct subpopulation that is the first to return to quiescence. Finally, we investigated how different conditioning regimens can be used to analyse properties in HSCs important for engraftment after transplantation. We compared irradiation conditioning to a conditional Gata2 knockout mouse model which allowed selective and temporally controlled depletion of HSCs. When HSCs from different genetic backgrounds were transplanted in a competitive setting to these mice, we observed that even small differences in HSC proliferation and adhesion gave fundamentally different outcomes in engraftment depending on the type of conditioning. Collectively, this work provide new insights on important features of HSC regeneration after transplantation, knowledge that can advance future investigations and clinical applications.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Vårt blodsystem är kroppens största organ och utgör mer än 70% av alla våra celler. Den största andelen är röda blodkroppar som transporterar syre och koldioxid till och från våra celler. Utöver dem finns blodplättarna, små cellfragment som gör att blodet koagulerar vid skada, och de vita blodkropparna, som skyddar oss från infektioner. Blodcellerna förnyas konstant och trots att de fyller så olika funktioner så kan de bildas från en och samma cell - blodstamcellen. Blodstamceller är få till antalet och finns i benmärgen hos vuxna, där de flesta är vilande och overksamma och bidrar relativt lite till att producera nya blodceller. Vid behov har de emellertid en enorm potential att dela sig för att göra nya stamceller och för att mogna ut till olika blodceller, egenskaper som gör dem till den funktionella enheten i benmärgstransplantationer. De gener och mekanismer som styr hur blodstamceller fungerar är i många fall gener som även är inblandade i blodcancer. Dessa faktorer gör det extra viktigt att studera stamceller, för att förstå hur de fungerar, hur vi kan använda dem på bästa sätt i till exempel transplantationer, och för att förstå vad som går fel när en cell blir en cancercell.

Min avhandling består av tre arbeten där jag har använt mig av musen som modellsystem för att studera olika aspekter av transplantation av blodstamceller.

I *artikel 1* ville vi få en helhetsbild av blodbildningens olika faser efter transplantation. Vi undersökte hur olika populationer förändras över tid, hur stamcellernas funktion påverkas, och hur uttrycket av gener i olika populationer förändras och skiljer sig åt. Vi kunde se att stamcellerna i den första fasen främst bildade en specifik population progenitorer som i sin tur mognar till röda blodkroppar och blodplättar. Samtidigt så försämrades stamcellernas funktion att bilda nya stamceller. Vi kunde dessutom identifiera 130 gener som visade ett gradvis förändrat uttryck över tid, och som kan vara viktiga för hur blodstamcellerna styrs efter transplantation.

I *artikel 2* var målet att förbättra identifieringen av funktionella blodstamceller när de transplanterats. Detta är en förutsättning för att studera de mekanismer som styr hur stamcellerna reagerar vid olika situationer. Problemet är att vissa av de proteiner som finns på cellens yta och som används för att känna igen olika celltyper ändras efter transplantation, vilket försvårar identifieringen. Vi såg att MAC-1, ett protein som vanligtvis finns på en speciell typ av vita blodkroppar, uttrycks tillfälligt även på blodstamceller. De stamceller som har mest MAC-1 på sin yta är dessutom de mest funktionella stamcellerna.

I *artikel 3* undersökte vi hur olika grader av så kallad konditionering påverkar hur effektivt stamcellerna hittar till benmärgen och bidrar till blodbildning efter transplantation. Konditionering betyder att man skapar plats i benmärgen för de transplanterade stamcellerna genom att ta bort konkurrerande stamceller. Detta görs vanligtvis genom gammastrålning som inte bara dödar befintliga stamceller utan

även skadar andra celler i benmärgen. Vi etablerade en ny musmodell för konditionering, där vi kunde ta bort konkurrerande celler både före och efter transplantation utan att förstöra resten av benmärgen. Därefter visade vi att olika grader av konditionering kan användas för att utvärdera olika egenskaper som stamcellerna behöver efter att de transplanterats.

Sammanfattningsvis beskriver min avhandling hur blodstamceller förändras efter en transplantation, hur vi effektivt kan identifiera dem med hjälp av en ny markör, samt hur olika typer av konditionering av benmärgen kan användas för att analysera egenskaper som är viktiga hos stamcellerna vid en transplantation.

List of publications

Articles included in this thesis

Paper I

Rydström A, Grahn THM, Niroula A, Mansell E, van der Garde M, Pertesi M, Subramaniam A, Soneji S, Zubarev R, Enver T, Nilsson B, Miharada K, Larsson J, Karlsson S. Functional and molecular profiling of hematopoietic stem cells during regeneration. *Experimental Hematology 2023;127 :40-51*.

Paper II

Rydström A, Mansell E, Sigurdsson V, Sjöberg J, Soneji S, Miharada K, Larsson J. MAC-1 marks a quiescent and functionally superior HSC subset during regeneration. *Stem Cell Reports 2023;18(3):736-748*.

Paper III

Miharada N, **Rydström A**, Rak J, Larsson J. Uncoupling key determinants of hematopoietic stem cell engraftment through cell-specific and temporally controlled recipient conditioning. *Stem Cell Reports* 2021;16(7):1705-1717.

Articles not included in this thesis

Warsi S, Dahl M, Smith EMK, **Rydstrom A**, Mansell E, Sigurdsson V, Sjoberg J, Soneji S, Rorby E, Siva K, Grahn THM, Liu Y, Blank U, Karlsson G, Karlsson S. Schlafen2 is a regulator of quiescence in adult murine hematopoietic stem cells. *Haematologica* 2022;107(12):2884-2896.

Liu Y, Schmiderer L, Hjort M, Lang S, Bremborg T, **Rydström A**, Schambach A, Larsson J, Karlsson S. Engineered human Diamond-Blackfan anemia disease model confirms therapeutic effects of clinically applicable lentiviral vector at single-cell resolution. *Haematologica 2023;108(11):3095-3109*.

Safaee Talkhoncheh M, Baudet A, Ek F, Subramaniam A, Kao YR, Miharada N, Karlsson C, Oburoglu L, **Rydström A**, Žemaitis K, Alattar AG, Rak J, Pietras K, Olsson R, Will B, Larsson J. Ciclopirox Ethanolamine Preserves the Immature State of Human HSCs by Mediating Intracellular Iron Content. *Blood Advances 2023*.

Silvério-Alves R, Kurochkin I, **Rydström A**, Vazquez Echegaray C, Haider J, Nicholls M, Rode C, Thelaus L, Lindgren AY, Ferreira AG, Brandão R, Larsson J, de Bruijn MFTR, Martin-Gonzalez J, Pereira CF. GATA2 mitotic bookmarking is required for definitive haematopoiesis. *Nature Communications 2023;14(1):4645*.

Abbreviations

5-FU	5-fluorouracil
AML	acute myeloid leukemia
BrdU	bromodeoxyuridine
CFSE	carboxyfluorescein
CFU	colony-forming unit
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorting
G-CSF	granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GVHD	graft versus host disease
H2B-FP	histone H2B-fluorescent protein
HCT	hematopoietic cell transplantation
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
HSPC	hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell
IFN	interferon
JAK/STAT	Janus-activated kinase/signal transducer and activator of
	transcription
LT-HSC	long-term hematopoietic stem cell
KO	knockout
LSK	Lin ⁻ , SCA-1 ⁺ , cKIT ⁺
MAC-1	macrophage-1 antigen
MDS	myelodysplastic syndrome
MegE	megakaryocyte/erythroid
Mk	megakarvocute
	megakaryoeyte
MPP	multipotent progenitor
MPP MSC	multipotent progenitor mesenchymal stem cell
MPP MSC NK	multipotent progenitor mesenchymal stem cell natural killer cell
MPP MSC NK PCR	multipotent progenitor mesenchymal stem cell natural killer cell polymerase chain reaction
MPP MSC NK PCR ROS	multipotent progenitor mesenchymal stem cell natural killer cell polymerase chain reaction reactive oxygen species
MPP MSC NK PCR ROS SS	multipotent progenitor mesenchymal stem cell natural killer cell polymerase chain reaction reactive oxygen species steady state
MPP MSC NK PCR ROS SS WBM	multipotent progenitor mesenchymal stem cell natural killer cell polymerase chain reaction reactive oxygen species steady state whole bone marrow

Introduction

In 1958, the first successful allogeneic bone marrow transplantation was performed on six physicists accidently exposed to lethal or near-lethal doses of irradiation (Jansen, 2005; Mathe et al., 1959). In a time where HLA-matching was not possible, this was a high-risk treatment that had previously failed due to severe graft versus host disease (GVHD). Today, hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) is a standard treatment with curative potential for more than 70 diseases such as inherited immunodeficiencies, relapsed leukemias and bone marrow failures. The reason why HCT works long-term is the rare and insignificant-looking hematopoietic stem cell (HSC). It harbors the ability to self-renew and to differentiate to all the mature blood cells and is thereby capable of rebuilding a whole new blood system in a transplanted recipient. Although HCT is a powerful treatment, there are still severe side-effects and limitations associated with it, such as risk of GVHD, difficulties finding matched donors, toxicity from conditioning, and susceptibility to infections due to cytopenia during the recovery phase. HSCs are the most studied adult tissue stem cells, in part due to their unique accessibility from a liquid tissue. It has become clear that genes regulating self-renewal and differentiation in HSCs often are dysregulated in cancers. Taken together, this highlights the importance of continuous research on HSCs with the aim of improving transplantation outcome, but also to understand how HSC function can be linked to malignant transformation and hematopoietic disorders.

What are stem cells and why are they important?

The definition of a stem cell is based on its dual ability to divide and give rise to new copies of itself by a process called self-renewal, and to differentiate to multiple mature cell types. In the adult organism, most tissues contain a small pool of tissuespecific stem cells harbouring the potential to differentiate to a subset or all of the mature cell types of this tissue. In some tissues with a need for high turnover of cells such as the skin and intestine, the stem cells are continuously dividing to ensure sufficient production of mature cells (Banjac et al., 2023). This is not true for the most regenerative tissue in the body, the hematopoietic system. A majority of the HSCs are quiescent during homeostasis and contribute only marginally to the production of mature blood cells, but with the ability to serve as a reservoir of protected cells that come to use under situations of severe stress. The rate of stem cell self-renewal and differentiation is under strict regulation to ensure tissue homeostasis and function by controlling cell numbers and ratios. Stem cells have great potential in the clinic, where their proliferative and differentiation potential can be used to treat various disorders and malignancies (Kirkeby et al., 2023; Menasché et al., 2015; Sacchetti et al., 2018; Shapiro et al., 2021). Before I go more into depth on the function and regulation of HSCs, I will introduce the hematopoietic system, and some of the methods that are commonly used to study HSC biology.

What is the hematopoietic system and why is it important?

There are many fascinating aspects about our hematopoietic system. Although all mature blood cells originate from the HSC, they carry out very different and essential functions in our body. The hematopoietic system can broadly be divided into myeloid and lymphoid cells (Figure 1). The myeloid compartment can be further separated into erythrocytes, megakaryocytes/platelets (Mk), conventional dendritic cells, monocytes, and granulocytes, while the lymphoid compartment consists of T- and B-cells, natural killer (NK) cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells.



Figure 1. The hematopoietic hierarchy. Schematic representation of the hematopoietic system and the gradual differentiation from hematopoietic stem cells via progenitors to all lineages of the blood system.

The red blood cells, erythrocytes, transport oxygen from the lungs to all cells of the body, where they exchange it for carbon dioxide which is transported back to the lungs. These cells make up 70% of all cells in the body and are thus by far the most common cell type. Since the lifespan of human erythrocytes is approximately 115 days (45 days in mice) after which they are cleared by macrophages in the spleen, two million erythrocytes need to be produced every second to maintain homeostasis (Dholakia et al., 2015; Palis, 2014). With age, there is a gradual decline in erythropoiesis that likely arises from a decrease in the subpopulation of HSCs and/or multipotent progenitors (MPPs) that produces erythrocytes, often leading to mild anemia in the elderly (Busch et al., 2015; Konturek-Ciesla et al., 2023).

Platelets are the smallest constituents of our blood system and are responsible for the blood clotting in wound healing. They are anuclear cytoplasmic fragments with a predetermined lifespan of 10 days formed by shedding from megakaryocytes, where each cell gives rise to thousands of platelets (Mason et al., 2007; Trowbridge et al., 1984). A precise regulation of platelet levels in the blood is essential, since insufficient levels increases the risk of hemorrhage, and too high levels might lead to thrombosis.

The leukocyte constituents of the myeloid compartment, including monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes, and dendritic cells, make out the innate, or non-specific, immune system. Together they form the first line of defense against both unwanted microbes entering the body through recognition via pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), as well as playing essential roles in tissue damage clearing and reacting to tumor cells through recognition of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Kono and Rock, 2008). Their immediate role is to neutralize the unwanted cells by releasing granules containing anti-microbial proteins and removing cells or cell debris by phagocytosis. In addition, cells of the innate immune system release large amounts of inflammatory cytokines that act as chemoattractants for the adaptive immune cells. Dendritic cells are professional antigen-presenting cells that not only phagocyte and neutralize cells, but also process the engulfed material and present it to naïve T-cells that in turn becomes activated. The adaptive immune cells belong to the lymphoid compartment, where B- and T-cells are responsible for a highly specific immune response, where each clone recognizes a unique antigen. Finally, NK cells are effector lymphocytes of the innate immune system important in controlling both infections and tumor growth. Diseases that have negative effects on the production or function of parts of the immune system often come with severe effects on protection against both infections and cancer cells (Bekker et al., 2023; Fischer et al., 2015; Kolter et al., 2022).

The hematopoietic system can be viewed as a hierarchical tree structure, with the rare and quiescent HSC at the apex and the large number of mature effector cells at the bottom. Between these extremes are various progenitors with gradually restricted potential, that are more frequent than HSCs and highly proliferative. Progenitors are essential for a swift response to various perturbations, but are also,

as will be described more in the coming sections, likely responsible for the bulk of blood cell production during homeostasis. The classical view of the hematopoietic tree has been that of clearly defined and discrete populations that differentiate in stepwise manner (Orkin and Zon, 2008). Over the past two decades this view has changed, and the current view is instead that both HSCs and progenitors are more plastic, but with intrinsic bias towards a certain fate (Loughran et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2018). Practically, this means that a cell has potential to differentiate along several paths, but with a preference to a specific cell type.

Methods to study HSCs

Although the ultimate goal of most medical oriented research is to acquire knowledge of how the human body works and how to treat diseases and malignancies, we cannot assess this information experimentally in humans due to an international consensus of ethics (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects, 2013; Greek et al., 2012; Katz, 1996). We therefore largely rely on information from experiments performed using cell lines and various animal models. Different aspects of hematopoiesis are studied mainly in zebrafish and mice, and to some extent non-human primates. The mouse is the most commonly used model, due to the relatively close similarities to the human hematopoietic system, the abundance of genetic models and the relative ease of handling and maintaining the animals. Most of the content in this thesis will be focused on experiments and knowledge from the mouse hematopoietic system.

HSC identification and isolation

A prerequisite to study the function of HSCs is to be able to identify and isolate them. The liquid nature of blood and bone marrow and the non-adherent nature of most hematopoietic cells in culture, including HSCs, make them particularly suitable to analyse using flow cytometry. This technique, based on a combination of fluidics and optics, was developed in the 1960s and has since then developed into a high throughput method that can analyse thousands of cells per second. The fluidic part forces a cell suspension into a tight stream, only allowing one cell at a time to pass. At a specific point, each cell passing through the stream is hit by one or several lasers. Lasers of different wavelengths can be used to excite combinations of fluorophores on the cell's surface. The emitted light is then passed via mirrors and filters to detectors that record information on the emitted fluorescence as well as cell size and granularity. In fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS), this technique is modified by applying a piezoelectric force to the stream, creating cellcontaining droplets that can be charged and sorted.

The identification of both immature and mature hematopoietic cell types requires the use of a combination of fluorescence-conjugated monoclonal antibodies that bind to epitopes on the cell surface. Decades of collected efforts have made it possible today to identify adult mouse HSCs with a purity of approximately 1 in 2 cells (Kiel et al., 2005). Beginning in the 1980's, Weissman and colleagues identified long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs) in the fraction of the bone marrow negative for markers of mature lineages (Lin⁻), while expressing SCA- and 1 cKIT (Ikuta and Weissman, 1992; Spangrude et al., 1988). This population, also known as LSK, is highly enriched for the most primitive stem- and progenitor populations and can be further refined by adding CD135 (Adolfsson et al., 2001; Christensen and Weissman, 2001), CD34 (Osawa et al., 1996) and the SLAM markers CD48 and CD150 (Kiel et al., 2005). HSCs are negative for CD48, CD135 and CD34, while expressing CD150, and a commonly used combination to identify adult HSCs is LSK, CD48⁻, CD150⁺, or LSK-SLAM. An alternative to using antibody-based recognition of a combination of surface markers is to take advantage of the high expression of efflux pumps on HSCs. These efflux pumps are used to clear the cells from harmful molecules such as the DNA-binding Hoescht dye, and HSCs can be identified as the cells with the lowest content of Hoescht, also known as side population or SP cells (Goodell et al., 1996).

It is important to be aware that the expression of cell surface markers may vary depending both on the developmental stage and the physiological state of the HSCs. During fetal development, the HSC pool expands, and cells are dividing extensively, in contrast to the quiescent adult HSCs. The HSCs that reside in the fetal liver express MAC-1, a marker typically expressed on mature macrophages and NK-cells (Morrison et al., 1995). As investigated in Paper II, various kinds of stress influence the expression of cell surface markers on HSCs, and both SCA-1 and MAC-1 are upregulated as a response to stress, while the expression of cKIT is transiently lost (Pietras et al., 2014; Randall and Weissman, 1997; Snapper et al., 1991). Alternative strategies to account for these changes can be to exclude these variable markers and identify markers stable to stress (Rabe et al., 2020), or to use the side population mentioned above. In aged mice the phenotypic HSC pool expands, while the overall functional potential declines. Although there is evidence of subsets of HSCs with high fitness also in old mice (Mansell et al., 2021), no marker combination has yet been found to prospectively identify these cells efficiently.

Methods to evaluate HSC function and traits

When studying HSC biology, some of the key features to be measured include differentiation and self-renewal potential, homing and engraftment ability, proliferative and metabolic status, as well as variations in gene and protein expression. There are numerous ways to assess these different aspects of HSCs, and below I will introduce a few of the most commonly used methods.

In vitro assays

The colony-forming unit (CFU) assay is a commonly used method to assess hematopoietic progenitor frequency, proliferation potential and differentiation capacity. Here, individual cells are grown in a semi-solid medium containing cytokines and growth factors that support differentiation of myeloid, erythroid and megakaryocyte cells. Cells are plated at a concentration to allow for the growth of individual colonies that are typically classified based on morphological and phenotypic criteria (Wognum, 2015). More recently, antibody-based analyses by microscopy or flow cytometry were developed, to allow for faster and more objective classification (Pamphilon et al., 2013; Radulovic et al., 2019; Thompson et al., 2023). To assess lymphoid potential and allow differentiation of lymphoid Band T-cells *in vitro*, co-culture with OP9 and OP9-DL1 stromal cells is required (Nakano et al., 1994; Schmitt and Zúñiga-Pflücker, 2002).

The long-term culture-initiating cell (LTC-IC) assay allows for the identification and quantification of more primitive progenitors and stem cells. Here, hematopoietic cells are cultured on a stromal cell layer for more than 4 weeks in culture media supporting both self-renewal and differentiation. During this time, committed progenitors become terminally differentiated, while the more primitive cells are maintained. After 4 weeks, the remaining cells are assayed for their potential to generate CFUs (Sutherland et al., 1990; Wognum, 2015).

A longstanding goal is the possibility to expand HSCs *in vitro* while maintaining their stem cell function. This can be useful in experimental settings to assess self-renewal potential, but most importantly, it harbours great clinical potential, expansion of cord blood HSPCs to increase availability of donors for HCT, and expansion of corrected HSCs in gene therapy to name a few. Recent progress have been made to transiently expand both mouse and human HSCs *in vitro* (Fares et al., 2014; Sakurai et al., 2023; Wilkinson et al., 2019), and clinical trials are ongoing using expanded cord blood in transplantations (Saiyin et al., 2023). There are still considerations when evaluating expanded cultures since current protocols also expand non-HSCs, resulting in large heterogeneity (Wilkinson *et al.*, 2019; Zhang and Lodish, 2005). To resolve this, phenotypic profiling combined with functional evaluation of expanded cultures have identified SCA1, cKIT, and EPCR to be stably expressed (Che et al., 2022; Zhang and Lodish, 2005), CD48 and CD244 to be a stably absent (Koide et al., 2022; Noda et al., 2008), while TIE2 is downregulated upon culture (Zhang and Lodish, 2005).

In vitro assays are relatively easy to perform, informative regarding differentiation potential, and to some extent also to evaluate self-renewal. However, the environment created in a culture dish, with defined culture media, growth factors, stromal cells, adhesion factors, controlled temperature and CO₂ levels, is still not sufficient to reflect the complex environment in a living organism. For this reason, we still rely on *in vivo* models for precise assessment of HSC function.

Transplantation

To fully evaluate the potential of HSCs to reconstitute mature multilineage output and to self-renew, transplantation remains the gold standard method. Typically, in a so-called competitive transplantation, test donor cells are injected together with a reference population of competitor cells into preconditioned recipients, where conditioning is necessary to create niche space and to remove competition (Figure 2).



Figure 2. HSC transplantation in mice. Donor HSCs are transplanted together with competitor cells to recipients pre-conditioned by irradiation. The congenic Ly5.1 and Ly5.2 mouse strains are used to distinguish donor cells from competitor and recipient cells. Engraftment is evaluated by measuring donor chimerism in peripheral blood and bone marrow. Long-term reconstitution potential is evaluated by serial transplantation to secondary and tertiary recipients.

The kinetics of the output of mature donor cells of myeloid and lymphoid cells is measured in peripheral blood. At the end of the experiment, the donor chimerism in the bone marrow is assessed. Depending on what aspects of HSCs you are evaluating, a number of different transplantation approaches can be employed. If the aim is a qualitative measurement of functional HSCs, competing a set number of donor whole bone marrow (WBM) cells against a set number of competitor WBM cells is a common procedure (Szilvassy et al., 1990). When purified HSCs are transplanted in competition with either HSCs or WBM, the outcome allows for a more precise evaluation of HSC function (Rundberg Nilsson et al., 2015). A quantitative assessment of HSCs can be achieved by using the limiting dilution assay. Here, a series of dilutions of donor cells are transplanted together with a set number of support cells. The number of mice negative for donor cells is then used to estimate the HSC frequency using Poisson statistics (Szilvassy et al., 1990). Finally, to evaluate the long-term reconstitution potential of HSCs, serial transplantations of engrafted cells from primary to secondary and tertiary recipients are considered the most stringent assay (Dykstra et al., 2007; Purton and Scadden, 2007).

To distinguish between donor and recipient cells, the congenic mouse strains Black6 Ly5.1 and C57/Black6 Ly5.2, that differ only in their *Ptprc* alleles are commonly used. This locus contains around 300 genes, one of them coding for the CD45

antigen that can be identified using antibodies specific for the Ly5.1 and Ly5.2 variants of CD45. If competing transplanted cells from these strains against each other in a preconditioned recipient, it is important to be aware of the slight advantage of the Ly5.2 HSCs. The possible mechanisms behind this difference and how conditioning affects the outcome was further investigated in Paper III. To avoid this difference in fitness, the Scadden lab developed the congenic CD45.1^{STEM} mouse strain that differs only with one amino acid compared to the Ly5.2 (Mercier et al., 2016). Since the CD45 antigen is not expressed on platelets and erythrocytes, donor contribution to these subsets cannot be discriminated using the Ly5.1 and Ly5.2 strains. To track and monitor platelets and erythrocytes in transplanted animals, donor cells from transgenic reporter mouse strains such as UBI-GFP/BL6 and Kusabira-Orange that express fluorescent proteins in all hematopoietic lineages can be used (Schaefer et al., 2001; Yamamoto et al., 2013).

Reconstitution of hematopoiesis following transplantation is a multi-step process that measures the combined output of many qualities of HSCs, such as homing to the bone marrow, lodging in the niche and the generation of hematopoietic output, altogether referred to as engraftment. A specific type of transplantation can be employed to specifically assess the homing ability of HSCs. Here, a large number of donor cells are transplanted to unconditioned or conditioned recipients, and then retrieved from the bone marrow within 15 hours for analysis by flow cytometry (Heazlewood et al., 2014; Szilvassy et al., 2001). If two cell types are compared, they can be fluorescently labelled with separate dyes before transplantation, to allow for direct comparison in the same recipient. The homing assay is challenging since it requires transplantation of many cells to re-isolate a sufficient number of cells for statistically meaningful analysis. We demonstrate in Paper III that the *Gata2* mouse model provides an alternative model with high sensitivity to measure small differences in homing qualities.

In the experimental setting, transplantation is typically preceded by irradiation conditioning to create niche space and to eliminate competition. This is also relevant from a clinical perspective, where irradiation can have the dual role of creating space for the incoming graft as well as part of the treatment in killing malignant cells. When removal of malignant cells is not a necessity, alternative conditioning regimens that can allow for efficient engraftment by a more selective depletion of resident HSCs, while leaving niche cells and mature hematopoietic cells intact, might be advantageous. Experimental approaches of mild pre-conditioning include antibody regimens (Czechowicz et al., 2007; Palchaudhuri et al., 2016), mobilization (Omer-Javed et al., 2022), or using genetically modified mice with impaired HSC function as recipients (Migliaccio et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2009).

Gene expression analysis

The development of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in the 1980s (Saiki et al., 1985), and the sequencing of the human genome in the early 2000, are two

milestones on the way to today's current high throughput single cell RNA sequencing. Before this, gene expression was typically measured by probe-based techniques like quantitative reverse transcription-PCR (qRT-PCR) and microarrays. The common denominator for these techniques is the initial conversion of mRNA to cDNA. The DNA molecule is more resistant to degradation than RNA and enables subsequent DNA amplification. In qRT-PCR, a set of pre-selected genes, including house-keeping reference genes, are amplified using specific primers. Although this technique is sensitive and can quantify lowly expressed genes, it is limiting in the number of genes that can be measured. High throughput platforms such as Fluidigm is based on the same technique and can measure expression of 96 genes in 96 single cells but has limitations to accurately quantify genes with low and high expression at the same time.

RNA sequencing is a high throughput technique that measures the entire transcriptome in single cells or in a pool of bulk cells. The sequencing protocols include steps of cDNA synthesis, amplification, and barcoding, albeit in different orders depending on the technique. Compared to probe-based techniques, RNA sequencing is an unbiased approach that can be used in an explorative manner to identify differences between cells, to determine cell identity, and, in the case of single cell sequencing, also provide information on the heterogeneity of a population. More recently, techniques applying RNA sequencing to histological tissue samples, so called spatial transcriptomics, are used to provide insight to the localisation of cellular subsets (Stark et al., 2019). Gene expression is also regulated epigenetically by modulating accessibility of the DNA, thereby allowing, or preventing transcription to occur. Several applications of next generation sequencing have been developed to measure epigenetic modifications. Chromatin immunoprecipitation followed by sequencing (ChIP-seq) is an antibody pull-down method identifying regions of the genome that interacts with specific proteins, such as transcription factors or histones carrying specific modifications (Park, 2009). A broader picture of chromatin accessibility can be obtained by the assay for transposase-accessible chromatin using sequencing (ATAC-seq). Here, a hyperactive transposase with sequencing adapters that inserts into nucleosome-free regions is used to determine sites where DNA is open and accessible for transcription (Grandi et al., 2022).

Genetic mouse models

The wealth of information coming from transcriptomic analysis has helped to draw a more comprehensive picture of HSC identity and heterogeneity. Yet, this picture is merely descriptive and does not provide mechanistic evidence of the function of genes. One of the most powerful techniques to study gene function is to delete parts of, or the entire sequence of a gene, thereby creating a knockout (KO). Today, KO in cell lines or animal models can be created efficiency and with high accuracy thanks to the development of the CRISPR/Cas9 technology. The Cas9 protein has endonuclease activity and can induce double strand breaks in the DNA molecule. The specificity is mediated by a guide RNA, directing the Cas9 to a specific site in the genome. The repair of the DNA breaks can induce inactivation of a gene, or insertion of a new genetic element (Knott and Doudna, 2018). Another way of modifying gene expression is to introduce sequence specific double stranded RNA molecules such as small interfering RNA (siRNA) or short hairpin RNA (shRNA). These molecules bind to specific mRNAs which induce their degradation, resulting in reduced expression of a specific gene (Hannon and Rossi, 2004; Rao et al., 2009).

Genetically modified mice provide important tools to study the function of individual genes in the context of an organism. In conventional knockout mice, a specific region is deleted entirely from the genome in all cells. If a gene is essential in multiple tissues, or during different times of development, the use of conditional KO mouse models can be more informative. Here, the Cre-lox system provides a versatile tool, where a genetic locus flanked by loxP sites can be excised by expression of the Cre recombinase (Sauer, 1998; Sauer and Henderson, 1989). To achieve tissue specific or inducible excision, the Cre recombinase can be expressed under the control of specific promoters. The Vav-Cre model allows for deletion of a gene specifically in endothelial and hematopoietic cells, starting around embryonic day 10.5 (E10.5) (Georgiades et al., 2002; Stadtfeld and Graf, 2005). Several models of temporally controlled expression of Cre have been developed, including Mx-Cre, Er-Cre, and Tet-on and Tet-off. In the Mx-Cre model, the viral mimetic poly(IC) drives Cre expression from an interferon-responsive promoter mainly in hematopoietic cells (Kühn et al., 1995). In the Er-Cre model, the Cre recombinase is fused to an estrogen receptor and retained in the cytoplasm until tamoxifen administration allows for the translocation to the nucleus (Ventura et al., 2007). The Tet-on and Tet-off models express an inactive reverse tetracyclinecontrolled transactivator (rtTA), or an active tetracyclin-controlled transactivator (tTA), respectively. When rtTA binds to the tetracyclin derivative doxycycline (Dox), it allows for binding to a tetracyclin responsive element (TRE), thereby driving Cre expression (Tet-on). The tTA can bind to TRE and drive expression of Cre in the absence of Dox, while the addition of Dox inactivates the tTA (Tet-off) (Gossen and Bujard, 1992; Gossen et al., 1995; Kistner et al., 1996). When using these systems, it is important to be aware of their limitations. In the case of the Mx-Cre model it is known that administration of poly(IC) induces proliferation in HSCs (Essers et al., 2009), and that experimental procedures that elicit an interferon response, such as transplantation, can induce spontaneous expression of Cre (Velasco-Hernandez et al., 2016). Moreover, expression of Cre is not limited to hematopoietic cells, but also occurs in other tissues such as the bone marrow stromal compartment and the liver. Similar to poly(IC), tamoxifen has proliferative but also apoptotic effects on different HSPC populations (Sánchez-Aguilera et al., 2014), and Tet-models have demonstrated leaky expression from the TRE (Challen and Goodell, 2008; Morcos et al., 2020). Taken together, although these mouse models provide useful tools to study the function of individual genes, or to trace specific

population of cells, it is essential to include proper controls to account for the side effects described above.

In addition to models created to study gene function, reporter mouse strains are used to identify cells with a specific gene expression. Several HSC- specific reporter mice have been created, including *Fgd5*-mCherry and -ZsGreen, *Pdzk1ip1*-GFP and *Tek*-GFP (Gazit et al., 2014; Ito et al., 2016; Sawai et al., 2016). The same genes have also been used as inducible lineage tracers of HSC-generated progeny (Busch *et al.*, 2015; Sawai *et al.*, 2016; Sawen et al., 2018). In these mice, a fraction of the HSC pool is irreversibly induced to express a fluorescent marker that is passed on to all progeny upon proliferation and differentiation. The label propagation provides information on the identity and amount of cell types produced, and the kinetics of the process.

The hematopoietic stem cell

A brief history of the discovery of HSCs

The definition of a hematopoietic stem cell is based on its potential to self-renew and to produce mature blood cells of all lineages. Therefore, to demonstrate the existence of such a cell, those are criteria that need to be experimentally assessed. In the 1960s, before the common use of FACS, PCR and genetically engineered mouse models, Till and McCulloch identified multilineage colonies forming on the spleen of irradiated mice transplanted with bone marrow cells (Till and Mc, 1961). When inducing unique chromosomal aberrations by irradiation, they demonstrated that each spleen colony contained the same aberration, and therefore came from one clone (Becker et al., 1963). Furthermore, cells from these colonies could be transplanted and give rise to new colonies (Siminovitch et al., 1963), thereby demonstrating both self-renewal and multipotent potential. Twenty years after these discoveries, three separate groups used the random integration of retrovirus into the genome as a more efficient way of introducing unique labels and demonstrated multilineage differentiation of serially transplanted bone marrow (Dick et al., 1985; Keller et al., 1985; Lemischka et al., 1986). With refined labelling and isolation techniques to obtain purified HSCs, Osawa et al. were the first to demonstrate selfrenewal and multilineage potential within one HSC by transplantation of single cells (Osawa et al., 1996).

Ontogeny of the hematopoietic system

During fetal development, hematopoiesis occurs in two waves. In the first wave, primitive erythrocytes, macrophages, and megakaryocytes emerge from blood

islands in the extraembryonic yolk sac around E7.5 in the mouse embryo (Silver and Palis, 1997). The primitive erythrocytes differ from the adult, as they maintain their nucleus and express a fetal-specific form of hemoglobin (Barker, 1968). In the second, definitive hematopoietic wave initiated at E10.5, HSPCs emerge from the ventral side of the dorsal aorta within the aorta-gonads-mesonephros region (AGM), in a process called endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition (Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996). Around this time, HSCs can be detected also in the yolk sac and placenta, but whether these are sites of HSC emergence remains debated (Medvinsky et al., 2011). As they are formed, the HSCs migrate via the circulatory system to the fetal liver where they undergo extensive proliferation to expand the HSC pool during E12-E16 (Ema and Nakauchi, 2000; Müller et al., 1994). Finally, prior to birth the HSCs migrate to the bone marrow where they gradually take on the characteristics of adult HSCs (Bowie et al., 2007).

HSCs during homeostasis

Quiescence and dormancy

During homeostasis, HSCs reside in the bone marrow niche where 70% are quiescent (Passegue et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2008). Mathematical models based on label dilution kinetics of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), histone H2B-fluorescent protein (H2B-FP), and carboxyfluorescein (CFSE) have suggested the co-existence of two HSC populations, one active population dividing every 9-36 days, and one more dormant population dividing every 56-145 days (Foudi et al., 2009; Takizawa et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 2008). Moreover, label retention in HSCs correlates both with the current cell cycle state and the reconstitution potential (Foudi et al., 2009; Qiu et al., 2014; Säwén et al., 2016; Takizawa et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 2008). However, these label retention assays all have technical limitations. BrdU incorporates in the DNA as a cell divides, and since HSCs are quiescent there is a risk of leaving the most quiescent cells unlabeled. In addition, BrdU also induces proliferation in HSCs (Takizawa et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 2008), a confounding trait in a molecule used to assay proliferation. H2B-FP expression was induced with different variants of the Tet-on system described above. This system has shown to be leaky and induces low level of labeling in the absence of Doxycyclin. Moreover, low level degradation of the labeled protein dilutes the signal independently of cell divisions (Morcos et al., 2020; Waghmare et al., 2008). To trace CFSE label dilution, cells are labeled ex vivo followed by transplantation. Ex vivo handling of HSCs can induce proliferation or apoptosis, which might affect the result of the experiment. In addition, when homeostatic conditions are investigated, it also involves transplantation to unconditioned recipients, a method that results in very low engraftment and thereby a risk of large variability. Irrespective of these shortcomings, there is a consensus that there are both active and quiescent HSCs

existing side by side, and that their divisional history is correlated to reconstitution potential.

Contribution to hematopoiesis by HSCs

For a long time, the dogma was that HSCs had a major contributing role in hematopoiesis, both under homeostatic and stress conditions. In part, this was a consequence of the assays used to define HSCs and the technical limitations of these assays. The definition of a tissue stem cell is its ability to self-renew long term and to have multilineage potential, and the only way to demonstrate this was traditionally by transplantation. The notion that HSCs are the main source of steady state hematopoiesis was questioned a decade ago, due to the development of new in vivo barcoding and lineage tracing models. Work from independent groups demonstrated how HSCs in an unperturbed homeostatic setting only displayed marginal contribution to the production of mature blood cells (Busch et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2014). Instead, a large pool of progenitors specified at an early age, were responsible for the bulk of hematopoiesis. At one given point, many progenitors were demonstrated to be active during a short period of time, resulting in a highly diverse, polyclonal output of mature blood cells. These same progenitors, when transplanted, are unable to give rise to long term hematopoiesis. In contrast, transplanted HSCs give rise to oligoclonal hematopoiesis with fewer long-lived HSCs producing large clones, highlighting the vast differences between steady state and stress hematopoiesis. In a follow-up study employing the same in vivo barcoding model, Camargo's group did, however, detect substantial contribution specifically to megakaryocytes from HSCs (Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2018). These findings have since been questioned, using other lineage tracing models (Chapple et al., 2018; Sawai et al., 2016) or a multi-fluorescent clonal tracking model (Yu et al., 2016), where a substantial hematopoietic output from HSCs at steady state was demonstrated. These conflicting results might come from an initially low labelling frequency of the HSC pool that may represent a more dormant subpopulation, thereby underestimating the level of HSC differentiation in the earlier studies (Busch et al., 2015). Similarly, if a barcoded HSC divides and the outcome is two differentiating daughter cells, that clone can no longer be traced back to an HSC, again leading to an underestimation of HSC contribution (Sun et al., 2014). However, the large clonal complexity observed by Sun et al., that when summed up over time would exceed the number of stem cells, gives support to the idea of progenitors being a major contributor to steady state hematopoiesis. From the other perspective, the lineage tracing models used to claim an active contribution are also labelling progenitors to some extent (Chapple et al., 2018; Sawai et al., 2016), and given the expansion potential of progenitors, this could have confounding effects at the level of label propagation.

HSC heterogeneity

Heterogeneity of the HSC pool has been demonstrated both molecularly and functionally (Challen et al., 2010; Gekas and Graf, 2013; Loughran et al., 2020; Sanjuan-Pla et al., 2013). Single cell transcriptome analyses have shown that HSCs exist in a continuum of transcriptional states, with gradual differences rather than distinct subpopulations (Cabezas-Wallscheid et al., 2017; Pietras et al., 2015). Single cell transplantations and barcoding have demonstrated functional heterogeneity, both in terms of lineage bias and expansion potential (Carrelha et al., 2018; Dykstra et al., 2007; Morita et al., 2010; Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2020; Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2018). There is evidence of both stable inherited traits (Carrelha et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2016), as well as traits changing over time (Morita et al., 2010). Interestingly, the existence of progenitors displaying self-renewing lineage restricted output in vivo, while still maintaining multipotent potential when cultured *in vitro*, sheds new light on the definition of HSCs (Carrelha *et al.*, 2018; Morita et al., 2010; Yamamoto et al., 2013). Can you define such a cell as an HSC, even if it does not effectuate its full potential? Similarly, how do you define a cell displaying multilineage and self-renewal properties during homeostasis, as proposed by Sun et al., but without potential to reconstitute upon transplantation?

Extrinsic regulation of HSCs

The word "niche" is described in the Oxford Languages dictionary as "a comfortable or suitable place". In the world of stem cells, the niche is the location and composition of cells that creates a safe harbour for stem cell maintenance and function. The adult HSCs reside in the bone marrow niche, where they receive signals from the surrounding cells that limit them from entering cell cycle. Historically, two distinct niches have been proposed: the endosteal niche lining the trabecular bone, and the perivascular niche, together containing endothelial cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), megakaryocytes, macrophages, osteoblasts, osteoclasts, sympathetic nerves, and non-myelinating Schwann cells (Figure 3A).

Sympathetic nerve cells confer a circadian regulation of CXCL12 expression and thereby a daily, small-scale HSC mobilization, while the non-myelinating Schwann cells regulate TGF-beta activation (Katayama et al., 2006; Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2008; Yamazaki et al., 2011). The main cellular component of the endosteal niche is the osteoblast, a bone-forming cell that expresses N-cadherin, angiopoietin, and osteopontin. Osteoblasts were initially proposed to provide essential adhesion with HSCs via homophilic N-cadherin binding (Hosokawa et al., 2010a; Hosokawa et al., 2010b; Xie et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2003). By conditional KO of N-cadherin in HSCs it was later demonstrated to be redundant for HSC function, both during homeostasis, stress and for homing to the bone marrow (Kiel et al., 2009; Kiel et al., 2007). Instead, the bone, and the bone-forming progenitors are suggested to play an important role by promoting the formation or maintenance of the perivascular niche (Chan et al., 2009; Sacchetti et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2010).

With the improvement of specific HSC surface markers (Kiel *et al.*, 2005), it became possible to identify where in the bone marrow HSCs localise and the cells found in their proximity. It became clear that the majority of steady state HSCs reside adjacent to sinusoids, in close proximity to endothelial cells and mesenchymal stromal cells (Kiel *et al.*, 2005). Conditional deletion of *Scf* or *Cxcl12* in



Figure 3. The bone marrow niche during homeostasis and stress. (A) HSCs reside in close proximity to sinusoids and arterioles during homeostasis, where a variety of niche cells support HSC maintenance and quiescence. (B) Stress induced by irradiation and chemotherapy leads to changes in niche composition and structure. HSCs adapt to these changes by shifting their location closer to the arterioles and bone.

endothelial and LeptinR⁺ mesenchymal stromal cells, but not Nestin⁺ stromal cells or osteoblasts, identified these signals and their cellular source to be essential for HSC maintenance (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Ding et al., 2012; Greenbaum et al., 2013). Although the majority of bone marrow HSCs are located close to sinusoids, the more rare arterioles in connection with NG2⁺ stromal cells, are suggested to be essential for maintaining quiescent HSCs (Asada et al., 2017; Kunisaki et al., 2013). In further support of this, NTN1 expression in the arteriolar niche was recently found to be a positive regulator of HSC quiescence via binding to the NEO1 receptor (Renders et al., 2021). Interestingly, the composition of the niche changes with age, with the sinusoidal niche being better preserved and thereby supporting quiescent HSCs in the aged bone marrow (Renders *et al.*, 2021; Saçma et al., 2019). Recent work mapping the bone marrow microenvironment by single-cell and spatial transcriptomic analysis have identified new cellular subsets, added detailed information on cellular localisation, and mapped changes induced by stress or malignant transformation (Baccin et al., 2020; Baryawno et al., 2019; Severe et al., 2019; Tikhonova et al., 2019).

Intrinsic regulation of HSCs

While the niche provides extracellular cues essential for HSC regulation, cellintrinsic regulators such as transcription factors and metabolites are the key players that propagate the external signals to control and execute the fate of HSCs.

Quiescent HSCs are characterized by their low metabolic rate and low protein synthesis. While metabolically active cells mostly produce ATP by oxidative phosphorylation, HSCs rely on the less energy efficient pathways of glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation. This is regulated in part by expressing high levels of HIF1a, a master regulator of metabolism. HIF1a mediates the activation of PDK, an enzyme which shunts pyruvate to lactate conversion instead of entering the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (Simsek et al., 2010; Takubo et al., 2013). For HSCs, the choice of using glycolysis is not only based on energy demands, but also a way to avoid accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), a byproduct of oxidative phosphorylation that can lead to oxidative stress and inhibition of self-renewal (Ito et al., 2004). The transcription factor Meis-1 regulates Hif-1a and restricts ROS-levels in HSCs (Simsek *et al.*, 2010; Unnisa et al., 2012).

mTOR is another major regulator of cellular metabolism which promotes proliferation and protein synthesis (Thoreen et al., 2012). For HSCs it is critical to have a strict regulation of mTOR, since increased signaling through mTOR leads to HSC activation and exhaustion, while inhibition leads to increased HSC quiescence, bone marrow failure and pancytopenia (Chen et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2021). The PML-PPAR-delta pathway for fatty acid oxidation is used by HSCs to regulate asymmetric and symmetric divisions (Ito et al., 2012; Ito *et al.*, 2016). Taken together, metabolism in HSCs is not merely a passive consequence or requirement of proliferation, but an active regulator of quiescence and activation (Morganti et al., 2022; Takubo *et al.*, 2013).

MYC proteins are a family of transcription factors that regulate cell cycle and growth, and that are commonly dysregulated in many cancers. In HSCs MYC has

been shown to control the balance between self-renewal and differentiation, partly by regulating the expression of adhesion molecules (Laurenti et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2004). Interestingly, MYC levels are mostly regulated by the rate of protein degradation. Since HSCs have limited capacity to degrade proteins they need to restrict protein synthesis to maintain low levels of protein misfolding. Increased protein production leads to proteasome overload, disrupted proteostasis and increased MYC levels due to insufficient degradation (Hidalgo San Jose et al., 2020).

The pioneer transcription factor GATA2 is required during embryogenesis in the generation of definitive HSCs, where it regulates the expression of other HSPC transcription factors (de Pater et al., 2013; Silvério-Alves et al., 2023), and conventional *Gata2* KO mice die at E10 due to severe anemia (Ling et al., 2004; Rodrigues et al., 2005). GATA2 is also essential for the maintenance of adult HSCs, and induced deletion in hematopoietic cells leads to depletion of the LSK compartment (Menendez-Gonzalez et al., 2019). Furthermore, *Gata2* mutations are associated with development of myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (Bruzzese et al., 2020; Hahn et al., 2011; Luesink et al., 2012). In Paper III we used an inducible *Gata2* KO mouse model to achieve depletion of HSPCs, and demonstrated how these mice could be used as recipients with a time-controlled conditioning regimen.

Additional transcription factors essential for HSC regulation are HLF, MECOM, and the HOX family to mention a few (Germeshausen et al., 2018; Komorowska et al., 2017; Magnusson et al., 2007). They ensure a proper balance between quiescence/proliferation and self-renewal/differentiation essential for sustaining hematopoiesis. When this balance is perturbed, either by overexpression or loss of function, it can lead to leukemia or bone marrow failure (Bindels et al., 2012; Germeshausen *et al.*, 2018; Golub et al., 1999; Inaba et al., 1992; Thorsteinsdottir et al., 2001; Voit et al., 2023).

Epigenetic regulators add another layer of complexity to gene expression. They act as structural or chemical modifiers of the DNA or the histone proteins which packs the DNA molecule. DNA methylation commonly causes repression of gene expression, while acetylation of histones often leads to transcriptional activation. A well-described epigenetic regulator is DNMT3a which is essential for HSC differentiation. DNMT3a is a methyltransferase, and mutations in this gene results in both hyper- and hypomethylation that can lead to the development of clonal hematopoiesis, AML, and MDS (Challen 2011, Yan 2011, Bowman 2018). IKZF2 acts both as a transcription factor and an epigenetic regulator. By altering chromatin accessibility, it regulates self-renewal and differentiation preferentially in leukemic stem cells (Park 2019). Other examples of epigenetic modifiers are BMI1 which acts by restricting protein synthesis to maintain proteostasis and thereby maintaining quiescence (Burgess 2022), and CTCF that by regulating 3D chromatin structures promotes the transition from quiescence to activation in HSCs (Takayama 2021).

HSCs during stress

Besides the continuous process of steady state hematopoiesis, the hematopoietic system is constantly "on call" to respond to various kinds of stressors such as infection, blood loss, mobilisation, as well as genotoxic and chemotoxic insults causing tissue damage. A common denominator for these situations of stress is the inflammatory response they elicit. Inflammation is mediated by the release of cytokines such as interferon alpha and gamma (IFNa, IFNg), granulocyte colonystimulating factor (G-CSF), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFa) and interleukins (IL), from cells of the immune system as well as cells in the niche (Zhang et al., 2012). These pro-inflammatory cytokines can transduce their signals via the Janusactivated kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), phosphoinositide 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT), or nuclear factor-kappa B (NFkB) pathways (Baker et al., 2007; Hemmati et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2017; Ramalingam et al., 2020), thereby initiating proliferation in HSCs (Baldridge et al., 2010; Essers et al., 2009; Lévesque et al., 2003; Sato et al., 2009; Yamashita and Passegue, 2019). The precise mechanism of G-CSF is still not clear, but it disrupts part of the niche and reduces CXCL-12 levels, leading to HSC mobilization (Lévesque et al., 2003; Petit et al., 2002; Tay et al., 2017). Depending on the type of stress and the need connected to that stress, different cells in the hematopoietic hierarchy become activated. Depletion of specific lineages such as B-cells or granulocytes directly induces proliferation in restricted progenitor populations, and indirectly by cellular feedback, also multipotent progenitors, while HSCs remain quiescent (Fanti et al., 2023; Säwén et al., 2016). Whether depletion of erythrocytes by serial bleeding induces proliferation in HSCs is debated (Fanti et al., 2023; Walter et al., 2015). Infection, mobilisation, irradiation, and chemotherapy on the other hand, induce proliferation of HSCs (Baldridge et al., 2010; Busch et al., 2015; Chapple et al., 2018; Sawai et al., 2016; Säwén et al., 2016; Walter et al., 2015; Wilson et al., 2008).

In response to these activation signals, HSCs change a number of features compared to the steady state situation. There is a downregulation of adhesion molecules leading to mobilisation from the niche, an increased metabolic activity, especially of oxidative phosphorylation, resulting in proliferation (Christodoulou et al., 2020; Morganti *et al.*, 2022; Venezia et al., 2004) (Figure 4, left). While proliferative activity can be readily measured by BrdU uptake, expression of cell cycle proteins in combination with DNA content, or label retention, these assays do not provide information on the outcome of proliferation. Here, the HSC has three options: (1) expansion by symmetric self-renewal division, differentiation by asymmetric division (2), or symmetric commitment division (3) (Figure 4, right). In the case of transplantation of purified HSCs, the congenic Ly5.1/Ly5.2 strains are readily used to measure donor contribution both to the stem cell pool and mature progeny. Employing lineage tracing models have demonstrated how 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)

efficiently induces both self-renewal and differentiation in HSCs (Busch *et al.*, 2015; Chapple *et al.*, 2018; Sawai *et al.*, 2016). While the viral mimetic poly(IC) induces differentiation of HSCs (Sawai *et al.*, 2016), bacterially induced sepsis induced robust proliferation of HSCs without differentiation (Fanti *et al.*, 2023). The increase in proliferation induced by sepsis was, however, counteracted by a similar increase in apoptosis, hence resulting in an unchanged HSC pool size.



Figure 4. HSC activation during stress. HSCs respond to stress by mobilization from the niche, increasing their metabolism and initiating proliferation. The outcome of proliferation can be HSC expansion by self-renewal, or differentiation by asymmetric or symmetric commitment divisions.

The signals on a systemic level that regulates the decision whether HSCs expand or differentiate are still poorly understood. On the cellular level, there is evidence for regulation of fatty acid oxidation as well as asymmetric partitioning of mitochondria and lysosomes driving this decision (Ito *et al.*, 2012; Ito *et al.*, 2016; Katajisto et al., 2015; Loeffler et al., 2019).

In addition to the effects on the hematopoietic system, the stress induced by irradiation and chemotherapy also affects the cells of the bone marrow niche (Figure 3B). These regimens trigger an increase in adipogenesis, while osteoblasts, osteoclasts, mesenchymal stem cells, and endothelial cells are reduced in numbers and function (Cao et al., 2011; Domen et al., 1998; Dominici et al., 2009; Quach et al., 2015), which is likely part of the reason for HSC egress and activation under these circumstances. Both chemotherapy and irradiation have been shown to cause specific disruption of sinusoidal niche cells (Hooper et al., 2009; Kunisaki et al., 2013; Saçma et al., 2019), and HSCs seem to adapt by shifting their location closer to the arterioles or endosteum (Hooper et al., 2009; Xie et al., 2009). Pleiotrophin (PTN) is a growth factor mainly secreted by stromal cell during steady state. Following irradiation, the expression of PTN is increased in the bone marrow with endothelial cells as the main source (Himburg et al., 2018), demonstrating how the niche is adapting to stress. Another adaptation to irradiation is the secretion of cholinergic signals from nerve cells activate endosteal MSCs to regulate HSC quiescence (Fielding et al., 2022). Recently, the identification of subsets of
macrophages and MSCs important for hematopoietic reconstitution after transplantation provide insight in possibilities to improve HSC engraftment (Abbuehl et al., 2017; Kaur et al., 2018; Severe *et al.*, 2019).

Once inflammation is cleared, HSCs return to quiescence (Pietras *et al.*, 2015; Säwén *et al.*, 2016; Venezia *et al.*, 2004; Walter *et al.*, 2015; Wilson *et al.*, 2008). Depending on the severity of the stress, and the proliferative pressure on the HSC, the return to homeostasis can take days or months (Säwén *et al.*, 2016; Venezia *et al.*, 2004; Walter *et al.*, 2015). If HSCs are exposed to extensive, repeated, or chronic inflammation (Bogeska et al., 2022; Essers *et al.*, 2009; Ganuza et al., 2019; Kovtonyuk et al., 2022), or if genes regulating quiescence such as *Hes1*, *FoxO*, *Socs2*, *Hlf* and *Irf2* are dysregulated (Komorowska *et al.*, 2017; Ma et al., 2020; Sato *et al.*, 2009; Tothova et al., 2007; Vitali et al., 2015), this can lead to stem cell exhaustion, bone marrow failure, and clonal hematopoiesis. The impaired function can be caused by increased DNA damage, dysfunctional mitochondria, ROS-induced oxidative stress (Hinge et al., 2020; Ito *et al.*, 2004; Walter *et al.*, 2015). A deeper understanding of how these mechanisms can be harnessed to preserve HSC function is of great importance.

Aims of the thesis

HSCs reside in the bone marrow, where the surrounding niche provides essential signals to keep them in a quiescent state. They serve as a long-term reservoir throughout life but with an impressive capacity to rebuild the entire hematopoietic system if needed. The regulation of quiescence and activation is essential, both to ensure a balanced hematopoiesis output, but also to avoid exhaustion and the risk of malignant transformation. With this work I aimed to characterize the changes that HSCs undergo during conditions of severe stress and the effect of different conditioning regimens on the mechanisms of engraftment. A deeper knowledge of the processes regulating HSC activation and engraftment will aid in the understanding of both normal and malignant hematopoiesis, and hopefully contribute to improve treatments of hematopoietic disorders and malignancies. Specifically, the overarching aims of the work summarised in this thesis were:

Paper I

- To characterise the population dynamics and molecular regulation of HSPC regeneration after transplantation.
- To identify genes displaying gradual expression changes during regeneration and that may act as regulators of HSC activation.

Paper II

- To evaluate if the expression of the cell surface marker MAC-1 is affected by regenerative stress after transplantation.
- To investigate if there is a correlation between MAC-1 expression and reconstitution potential in regenerating HSCs.
- To map the molecular features of HSC MAC-1 subsets.

Paper III

- To establish a genetic conditioning model with selective and temporally controlled depletion of resident HSCs by conditional deletion of *Gata2*.
- To use this model to assess different functional aspects important for HSC homing and engraftment after transplantation.

Summary of results

Paper I

In this paper we aimed to perform a comprehensive profiling of hematopoietic stem and progenitor populations during the entire regenerative phase following transplantation after irradiation. To this end, we transplanted a large cohort of mice with a high dose of HSPCs. The mice were then sacrificed at 8 different timepoints for phenotypic analysis of blood and bone marrow, as well transcriptomic analysis of bone marrow HSPCs. We hypothesized that a gradual change in stem cell functionality during regeneration would be governed by gradual increases or decreases in critical genes regulating stem cell function.

The initial phase of regeneration was characterized by the production of myeloid cells both in blood and bone marrow. In particular, the megakaryocyte/erythroid progenitor HPC-2 population expanded, while the more primitive MPP and HSC populations were reduced. This gradually reverted, and by 13 weeks the balance between the HSPC populations was similar to that seen in steady state mice. Functional assessment of stem cell function was performed by secondary transplantation of cells from the different phases of regeneration. Compared to steady state HSCs, the HSCs from all the regenerating phases had significantly reduced engraftment capacity but showed a clear trend of increasing reconstitution with time after initial transplantation. The transcriptomic analysis demonstrated that HPC-1, HPC-2, and HSCs from all phases maintained their typical population signatures, while at the same time showing altered expression of genes controlling cell cycle, MYC and mTOR signalling. Changes in genes regulating fatty acid metabolism and glycolysis were specific to HSCs. By fitting the transcriptomic data from HSCs to a decay rate model we found a set of genes displaying a gradual increase or decrease in expression during regeneration. These genes overlapped significantly with known gene sets associated with HSC function, as well as genes that are differentially expressed in HSCs depending on their divisional history.

Paper II

In this paper we aimed to investigate if the surface antigen MAC-1 was upregulated on HSCs as a response to regenerative stress after transplantation, and if subpopulations of HSCs expressing different levels of MAC-1 displayed functional differences. In addition, we wanted to know if the expression of MAC-1 was required for such functional variation. We observed a transient increase in MAC-1 expression during the early recovery phase after transplantation. Moreover, the expression of MAC-1 showed a positive correlation with HSC functionality as assessed in secondary transplantation assays, thereby allowing for a more efficient identification and isolation of long-term HSCs during regeneration. To identify the molecular differences between these functionally distinct subpopulations of HSC based on MAC-1 expression, we performed RNA sequencing. We observed differences in expression of genes regulating lineage priming, adhesion, stemness, metabolism and cell cycle, all processes important in the regulation of HSC function. Interestingly, we found a significant overlap between genes upregulated in the MAC-1 positive HSCs and genes known to be expressed in HSCs with low divisional history. In support of this observation, we found that HSCs expressing MAC-1 were more quiescent than MAC-1 negative HSCs, which contrasts with previous reports.

Next, we tested if the expression of MAC-1 had any role in regulating HSC function. To assess this, we used a conventional knockout mouse model of the CD11b subunit, that leads to a complete lack of MAC-1 expression in homozygous mice. We observed no difference in the frequencies of HSPCs or the cell-cycle state of HSCs, between wild type (WT) and KO littermates at steady state. To examine the role of MAC-1 during regenerative stress, we performed a competitive serial transplantation with WT or KO cells against equal numbers of competitor cells. Analysis of reconstitution in both primary and secondary recipients revealed no major differences in levels of engraftment or lineage output, suggesting that the expression of MAC-1 is dispensable for the regenerative capacity of HSCs.

Finally, we addressed whether the upregulation of MAC-1 in regenerating HSCs and the associated changes in cell cycle and function could be observed under other conditions of stress. To this end, we exposed mice to 5-FU, a chemotherapeutic agent causing myeloablation and activation of HSCs. Similar to what we observed after transplantation, we observed a transient upregulation of MAC-1 following 5-FU treatment, and that HSCs expressing high levels of MAC-1 were more quiescent than MAC-1 negative HSCs. When assessed functionally by transplantation, the MAC-1 positive HSCs displayed superior reconstitution.

To conclude, MAC-1 is a useful marker to identify and isolate a functionally superior subpopulation of HSCs during regeneration, and thereby provides a promising tool to gain further knowledge of HSC regulation during proliferative stress.

Paper III

The gold standard assay for characterization of multipotency and self-renewal in HSCs is transplantation. Traditionally, a conditioning regimen such as irradiation is employed to create nice space and to remove the overwhelming competition of resident HSCs. In this paper we compared irradiation conditioning to a genetic

mouse model where selective depletion of resident HSPCs can be induced in a timecontrolled manner by conditional deletion of *Gata2*.

When inducing deletion of *Gata2*, we achieved efficient depletion of HSCs, demonstrated by lack of engraftment when transplanting WBM from these mice in a competitive setting. This prompted us to test if *Gata2* deletion could serve as a pre-conditioning regimen by using the KO mice as recipients for transplantation. While control recipients with intact HSPC populations showed very low levels of transplanted donor cells, the *Gata2* deficient recipients displayed engraftment levels similar to irradiation conditioned recipients, although with slower reconstitution kinetics.

Next, we investigated if our model could be a permissive recipient even prior to HSC depletion, and thus whether donor HSPCs could engraft in an unperturbed environment in full competition with resident cells. We transplanted a large dose of HSPCs and selectively depleted recipient HSCs 4 weeks later by *Gata2* deletion. As expected, barely any donor cells were detected in the blood prior to recipient HSC deletion. Interestingly, however, upon deletion of *Gata2*, donor reconstitution increased substantially over time, while only low levels were observed in control recipients. This suggests that *Gata2* deletion can be used as a conditioning regimen both before and after transplantation allowing for efficient engraftment in a minimally perturbed environment.

Poly(IC) injections employed to induce the deletion of Gata2 induce an interferon alpha response. Since interferon alpha is known to induce proliferation in HSCs, we wanted to exclude the possibility that the inflammatory effect of poly(IC) itself had a major impact on the results. To this end, we used an estrogen responsive genetic model where tamoxifen is used to induce Gata2 deletion. Similar to our previous observations, when inducing depletion of recipient HSCs 4 weeks after transplantation, we observed robust reconstitution of donor cells specifically in Gata2 deleted mice.

Finally, with this model at hand, we explored how different conditioning regimens can affect the outcome of a transplantation, and how we can take advantage of these differences to assess functional aspects of HSCs. We took advantage of the congenic strains Ly5.1 and Ly5.2, where HSCs from Ly5.2 have a slight advantage in competitive transplantations to irradiated recipients. We therefore transplanted equal numbers of WBM from Ly5.1 and Ly5.2 into either lethally irradiated recipients, *Gata2* pre-induced recipients, or *Gata2* recipients where deletion was induced 4 weeks post transplantation. As expected, donor engraftment was very similar between Ly5.1 and Ly5.2 in irradiated recipients, with Ly5.2 cells demonstrating an advantage in the BM. In contrast, the Ly5.1 cells were in advantage in the pre-induced *Gata2* recipients. This advantage was accentuated in post-induced *Gata2* recipients, with barely detectable levels of Ly5.2 cells in both blood and BM. Since both homing and proliferation are qualities of HSCs that

influence their reconstitution, we sought to test if the Ly5.1 and Ly5.2 strains differed in these aspects. We found, using independent assays, that Ly5.1 HPSCs homed more efficiently than Ly5.2 HSPCs, while Ly5.2 were slightly more proliferative. Our *Gata2* model is thus able to uncouple these properties and detect alterations in homing capacity not seen in conventional irradiated recipients. In conclusion, we provide a temporally controlled model of HSC depletion suitable to assess homing properties of HSCs.

Discussion

During the past 70 years the use of HSCs in transplantations have revolutionised treatments of many hematological disorders, and this progress goes hand in hand with the increased knowledge in HSCs biology. Since the first experimental evidence of the existence of HSCs in the 60s, it is now possible to identify and isolate HSCs at high purity for both functional and molecular analysis. The papers included in this thesis add pieces of information on the impact of regenerative stress on HSCs, and how we can study different functional aspects of HSC homing and engraftment.

The role of HSCs in steady state versus stress hematopoiesis

Chemotherapy and irradiation followed by transplantation puts enormous pressure on the hematopoietic system to replenish the lost and damaged cells. This pressure feeds back to HSCs that in turn rapidly adapt by entering cell cycle. In contrast to steady state hematopoiesis, which is mainly driven by progenitors, HSCs contribute significantly to hematopoiesis during severe stress, and after transplantation this results in a switch from polyclonal to oligoclonal hematopoiesis (Busch et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2014). Although the self-renewal capacity of HSCs is crucial for longterm engraftment, the proliferation potential of downstream progenitors is essential for a rapid recovery. The important role of progenitors also in a transplantation setting is clearly seen in Paper I, where a rapid expansion of HPC-2 megakaryocyte/erythroid (MegE) biased progenitors is the immediate output of the transplanted HSPCs. This population seems to be particularly important in stress hematopoiesis since it is only marginal in size during steady state. The reason for their rapid expansion after transplantation might be two-fold: First, the efficient ablation of megakaryocytes and megakaryocyte progenitors by irradiation, in combination with the short lifespan of mature platelets, creates an acute need for platelet production. Second, lineage tracing has demonstrated relatively fast label progression from HSCs to HPC-2 and Mk progenitors, demonstrating the potential of HSCs to rapidly differentiate along this path (Sawen et al., 2018). Importantly, similar to what has previously been demonstrated during steady state, regenerating HPC-2 do not possess long-term self-renewal properties when transplanted.

Interestingly, we did not observe any major changes in frequency or number of the HPC-1 population, the cells suggested by Camargo and Rodewald (Busch *et al.*, 2015; Sun *et al.*, 2014) to be the main contributors of steady state hematopoiesis, suggesting that this population is highly regulated to meet long-term demands, and is less dynamic in acute hematopoiesis, compared to HPC-2 and HSCs. In addition, although lineage tracing demonstrated the fastest label progression from HSCs to MPPs during steady state (Sawen *et al.*, 2018), we observed a slow recovery of the MPP population after transplantation.

It is possible that HSCs continuously give rise to progenitors also during steady state conditions, and that this occurs through symmetric commitment divisions. If a barcoding system is used to trace hematopoietic output, symmetric commitment divisions leave no HSCs behind to be detected. Lineage tracing using different reporter systems are not limiting in this aspect and have demonstrated an active flow from the HSC compartment to progenitors and mature cells (Busch et al., 2015; Sawai et al., 2016; Sawen et al., 2018), a flow that seems to diminish with age (Konturek-Ciesla et al., 2023). Depending on the reporter system employed, the flow rate of label propagation that is a measurement of differentiation output is different, reflecting the difficulties with using specific reporters and ways of inducing the label (as discussed in the introduction). If the results suggesting significant HSC contribution to steady state hematopoiesis would hold true, it implies that the organism would rely on HSCs to maintain long-term stable hematopoiesis. One argument against this is work demonstrating how normal hematopoiesis is still maintained when 90% of the HSC pool is depleted (Schoedel et al., 2016), while the effect is much more adverse when both stem and progenitors are depleted, as seen in our Gata2 model in Paper III. In addition, the large number of unique mature clones produced over an extended period of time exceeds the complexity of the HSC pool (Busch et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2014). On the other hand, we and others have observed donor output in peripheral blood when transplanting large numbers of HSCs to unconditioned recipients, (unpublished data), (Lu et al., 2019; Shimoto et al., 2017). If transplantation to unconditioned recipients can be considered similar to steady state hematopoiesis, these findings provide evidence for HSC contribution to homeostatic hematopoiesis. Yet, in this settings, it is possible that the handling and processing of cells prior to transplantation activates the HSCs, thereby overestimating their role of HSCs in steady state hematopoiesis.

Another aspect to consider is how accurate our mouse models recapitulate steady state hematopoiesis in humans. Experimental animals are kept in a controlled environment, protected from pathogens. Since inflammatory signals are known to activate stem cells, the lack of infection and inflammation in our mouse models represents an artificially clean setting leading abnormally low stress. Naturally, humans are exposed daily to various bacteria and virus, thereby creating a higher demand on the immune system. Steady state hematopoiesis in humans could therefore be more dependent on the activity of HSCs. Indeed, tracing naturally occurring somatic mutations in HSPCs and peripheral blood demonstrates how human HSPCs actively contribute to granulocytes and B-cells (Lee-Six et al., 2018). Interestingly, there is evidence for differences in post-transplantation hematopoiesis between humans and mice. Taking advantage of the random integration of lentivirus in patients receiving gene therapy, Biasco et al. performed clonal tracking of 15 different blood cell lineages over a 4-year period. During the first 6 months they observed a first hematopoietic wave with lower clonal diversity, likely produced by progenitors, followed by a second long-lasting wave with higher clonal diversity sustained by HSCs (Biasco et al., 2016).

In summary, steady state hematopoiesis is propagated mainly by multipotent HPC-1 progenitors with a low contribution from the HSC compartment. In contrast, transplanted HSCs exit quiescence to initiate an immediate output of rapidly proliferating HPC-2 MegE biased progenitors, while the HPC-1 population remains relatively stable during regeneration.

Functional decline as a consequence of transplantation

The definition of long-term HSCs is based on their ability of multilineage reconstitution in serial transplantations. In both Papers I and II we observe a decline in reconstitution in secondary recipients. An overall lower number of functional HSCs during regeneration was demonstrated by Passegué and colleagues, who observed impaired reconstitution potential during early regeneration when assessing HSC activity by limiting dilution transplantations with unfractionated bone marrow (Pietras *et al.*, 2015). This is in a way expected and can partly be explained by the decline in functionality that is known to accompany divisional history (Qiu *et al.*, 2014; Wilson *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, the engraftment levels partly recovered with time after the initial transplantation, suggesting that divisional history is not the only determining factor. There are several possible explanations for the decline in reconstitution potential:

1) The most potent HSCs may alter their marker profile during acute stress and could fall outside the conventional LSK SLAM gate.

2) The acute need to replenish the blood system during early regeneration instructs HSCs to differentiate, and a fraction of the cells defined phenotypically as HSCs is primed to differentiate and lacks the ability to self-renew, thereby "contaminating" and diluting the population.

3) Parts of, or all HSCs could temporarily exist in a reversible state of proliferation that would impair their homing and engraftment potential.

In Paper I we used MAC-1 as a negative marker in the lineage cocktail, why this subpopulation was most likely excluded from our analyses. This could partly

explain the lower engraftment levels seen during the early regenerative phase. Yet, we do know, from transplanting MAC-1 low and negative cells, that these populations contain HSCs, albeit with lower purity. In Paper II, by excluding MAC-1 from the lineage cocktail we were able to capture essentially all HSCs within the LSK SLAM gate, since cells outside of this gate generated very low levels of engraftment when transplanted.

It is more complicated to address the question of non-HSCs "contaminating" the regenerating HSC population, since many markers alter their expression as a response to an inflammatory environment (Pietras *et al.*, 2015; Randall and Weissman, 1997). HSCs downregulate expression of cKIT, and both HSCs and progenitors upregulate the expression of SCA-1. Of note, MAC-1 is upregulated specifically in HSCs and MPPs and not in more restricted progenitor populations (unpublished data). In Paper II, as an alternative approach, we replaced cKIT and SCA-1 with EPCR, thereby defining HSCs as Lin-, CD150⁺, CD48⁻, EPCR⁺, and still observed a functional difference correlated to MAC-1 expression, excluding the possibility of SCA-1 expressing progenitors diluting the HSC population.

The transcriptomic analysis in Paper I revealed molecular overlap between early regenerating HSCs and HPC-2, as well as an upregulation of cell cycle genes. Since the analysis was done on bulk cells, we cannot say if these traits reflect the entire stem cell population, or only a subpopulation, but it might indicate that a fraction of these cells are primed to differentiate. However, the identification of MAC-1 as a marker of a functionally superior subset of HSCs during early regeneration supports the notion of HSC heterogeneity. By adding MAC-1 to the standard LSK SLAM phenotyping of HSCs we were able to identify a small subset of HSCs with distinct molecular and functional features. MAC-1⁺ HSCs were not only superior in long-term engraftment, but also more quiescent and with higher expression of genes promoting stemness. Since all HSCs are activated and induced to proliferate when transplanted to irradiated recipients (Takizawa *et al.*, 2011; Wilson *et al.*, 2008), MAC-1 thereby identifies the first HSCs to return to quiescence.

In conclusion, our findings in Paper I and II give support to the existence of subpopulations of HSCs during the process of regeneration, and that the functional decline is a combination of divisional history, cell cycle status and priming to differentiation.

Regulation of activation and quiescence in HSCs

To find novel regulators of HSC activation, we reasoned that genes regulating HSC activation would display a gradual increase or decrease in expression with time after stress insult. The decay rate model we employed for this purpose identified a set of genes that overlapped significantly with published gene sets linked to HSC function,

some of which had previously described roles in HSC regulation. One shortcoming of this experiment is the lack of molecular data during the first three weeks after transplantation. This was due to technical limitations, since it proved challenging to sample a sufficient number of cells during this time. Results from Dong et al. confirmed the difficulty in retrieving transplanted cells at early timepoints, even without relying on cell surface markers for identification. They did demonstrate however, that the majority of transplanted HSCs downregulate HSC signature genes and upregulate the expression of genes related to myeloid and MegE lineage restriction, while a small subset increased the expression of genes regulating quiescence (Dong et al., 2020). This raises the question if these subsets of HSCs that evolve in response to stress arise from stochastic events, or if they represent inherently different cells that thus have responded in different ways to the same stress stimuli.

HSC activation, a one-lane or multi-lane path?

As mentioned earlier, the outcome of proliferation in response to different kinds of stress can be different, but many cellular pathways regulating metabolism and proliferation are initially common in HSCs (Fanti *et al.*, 2023; Giladi et al., 2018; Mann et al., 2018; Venezia *et al.*, 2004). In contrast, a recent publication by Fast et al. compared the acute response in HSCs to G-CSF, prostaglandins, and poly(IC), and showed unique transcriptional responses to each of these stimuli (Fast et al., 2021). This raises the question on how specific the stress response is in HSCs to various stimuli, but also if the activation to a specific stimulus would always follow the same path in all HSCs.

When we designed the experimental layout for Paper I, we made a simplified hypothesis that HSC activation by transplantation would follow the same path up until the point where they make the decision if they should differentiate or not. This path would be the same, irrespective of when they become activated during the regenerative process, therefore the same states of activation would exist throughout regeneration but at different ratios (Figure 5, model A). Alternatively, the same stimulus could induce multiple paths of activation, possibly pre-determined by primed HSC subpopulations (Figure 5, model B).

The experimental setups in Papers I and II, where we perform both transplantations and RNA-sequencing on bulk populations, prevents us from making any strong claims regarding intrinsically different HSCs and how individual HSCs respond to activating cues. However, in support of model A, we observed an overlap of the differentially expressed genes identified with the decay rate model in Paper I, and genes that were differentially expressed between the 4-week MAC-1 subpopulations in Paper II. 12 out of 117 genes with decreased expression over time also had lower expression specifically in MAC-1⁺ compared to MAC-1⁻ HSCs, while 2 of the 13 genes with increased expression over time had higher expression in MAC-1⁺

compared to MAC-1⁻ HSCs. The conclusion is that some of the genes with a gradual change in expression can also be found in distinct subpopulations at one specific time point, in agreement with model A.

In favour of model B, there is a well-documented existence of HSC subpopulations with epigenetically inherited traits (Dykstra *et al.*, 2007; Yu *et al.*, 2016), and myeloid-biased and lymphoid biased HSC subpopulations respond differently to TGF-beta and IFN-gamma signalling molecules induced by irradiation (Challen *et al.*, 2010; Matatall et al., 2014). Of note, in contrast to our observation where MAC- 1^+ HSCs are more quiescent and express higher levels of lymphoid genes, the lymphoid biased HSCs identified by Challen *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 5. Models of unique or parallel paths of HSC activation. HSC activation by one stimulus induces the same unique path in all HSCs (model A). The same stimulus can induce multiple paths of activation that exist in parallel (model B).

The highly inflammatory environment following irradiation activates the entire pool of HSCs to proliferate (Wilson *et al.*, 2008), and it is essential for the maintenance of LT-HSC function to return to quiescence. Many inflammatory cytokines signals through JAK/STAT pathway, that in turn induces expression of *Socs2*, a transcription factor that functions as negative feedback (Baker *et al.*, 2007; Posselt et al., 2011). Our observation in Paper II of an increased expression of *Hlf* and *Socs2* specifically in the more quiescent MAC-1⁺ HSC subpopulation, suggest that they might be key transcription factors regulating the transition from activation to quiescence. Both *Hlf* and *Socs2* are redundant for steady state hematopoiesis, while

KO of either of these genes compromises the ability for HSCs to return to quiescence after activation, eventually leading to HSC exhaustion (Komorowska *et al.*, 2017; Vitali *et al.*, 2015).

Driving forces of HSC activation

One interesting aspect of HSC activation after transplantation is whether the main regulator of HSC proliferation is the need to replenish the blood system and the stem cell pool, or if the main driver is the inflammatory environment. Since irradiation-induced inflammatory cytokines emerge simultaneously, and probably as a consequence of tissue damage and death of hematopoietic and niche cells, it is difficult to address which of the two is the main regulatory factor of HSC proliferation. Interestingly, the number of active clones and the longevity of each clone is dependent on the dose of transplanted HSCs (Brewer et al., 2016). A large donor dose induces differentiation of short-lived myeloid clones not seen to the same extent when transplanting limited number of HSCs. This might be a way for the organism to spare a fraction of the HSCs long term, while another fraction is allowed to rapidly differentiate to replenish the blood system. It also suggests that the regulation of HSC activation is fine-tuned by feedback signals propelled by the hematopoietic need, and not only driven by the initial burst of inflammatory cytokines.

We are currently investigating this by transplanting a wide range of donor HSC doses together with WBM support and thereafter determining both mature hematopoietic output as well as recovery of the stem cell pool size in primary and secondary recipients. We speculate that if the hematopoietic need is the main regulatory factor, the HSC pool size would fully recover, irrespective of the initial transplanted dose. Consequently, a smaller dose of transplanted donor HSCs would need to proliferate more to reach this pool size. Unpublished data from this study revealed that the total phenotypic HSC pool fully recovered, but that the contribution from the donor HSCs varied, suggesting that HSC self-renewal is regulated by the hematopoietic need. We did observe an inverse correlation between the transplanted dose and the average fold expansion of donor HSCs, suggesting that the lower dose have a higher proliferative history. Unexpectedly, this difference in proliferative history was not reflected in their differentiation capacity when transplanted to secondary recipients, while the reconstitution of the HSC pool corresponded to the initial input dose (unpublished data). These results partly contradict observations made by Weissman and Rossi, who observed a positive correlation between long term reconstitution and initial transplant dose (Beerman et al., 2013; Pawliuk et al., 1996). Our preliminary results suggest that the need for hematopoietic recovery is the dominant regulator of HSC activation, but that the proliferative stress they experience upon transplantation is enough to impair their fitness, in particular their ability to differentiate. To further strengthen this hypothesis, it would be interesting to use our *Gata2* model as preconditioned recipients to investigate if a less inflammatory bone marrow environment would affect this outcome.

The niche in steady state and after transplantation

Niche space versus outnumbering competition

Engraftment and efficient reconstitution are multi-step processes that requires many different qualities in HSCs. First, they need to find their way to the BM via long range soluble signals, known as homing. This is followed by a closer interaction with specific niche cells known as lodging. Once the HSCs are residing in the bone marrow niche, to contribute to reconstitution they need to divide to produce mature hematopoietic cells and contribute to reconstitution. Transplantation is normally preceded by irradiation conditioning which efficiently kills the recipient's hematopoietic cells, thereby creating a need for the incoming donor cells to become activated and participate in the replenishment of the hematopoietic system. The classic view of the BM niche has been that it is the limiting factor for the HSC pool size. Substantial engraftment of transplanted HSCs would not be possible unless the niche is cleared from resident cells. In contrast, with the Gata2 model we demonstrate that engraftment can occur even without prior conditioning. When transplanting HSPCs to non-conditioned recipients and depleting the recipient HSPCs after 4 weeks by *Gata2* deletion, we observed a robust output of mature cells from the donor HSCs. This means that the transplanted cells were capable of engrafting in the BM niche but outnumbered by the recipient cells, therefore their hematopoietic output was below detection until the competition was removed. Our results suggest that niche space is not the only limiting factor for engraftment and is supported by previous work done by Shimoto et al., who demonstrated how transplantation of very large doses of HSCs both increases the total HSC pool size, as well as allowing for detection of blood output from transplanted cells (Shimoto et al., 2017).

Prospects of conditioning

It is clear, however, that niche availability plays a significant role in engraftment of HSCs. Recent findings have demonstrated how the use of mobilizing agents such as G-CSF and Plerixafor can be used not only to collect HSPCs by apheresis, but also as a means of mild conditioning that allows for efficient engraftment of transplanted bone marrow cells (Canarutto et al., 2023; Guderyon et al., 2020; Omer-Javed *et al.*, 2022). Further development of mild forms of conditioning such as lower dose of

radiation, mobilization, or the use of antibodies that specifically clears HSPCs (Czechowicz *et al.*, 2007; Dahl et al., 2021; Palchaudhuri *et al.*, 2016), is particularly interesting in the case of transplantations of patients with hematological disorders that does not require malignant cells to be killed by irradiation or chemotherapy. To accompany such advancements, it becomes important to better understand the different steps in engraftment under homeostatic conditions. For this purpose, the *Gata2* mice would be a good model. It allows for depletion of recipient HSCs both before and after transplantation and provides a sensitive readout of subtle differences in homing/lodging that may go undetected in transplantations into irradiated recipients. In a similar manner, the use of toxin-conjugated antibodies can deplete specific cell populations *in vivo* and can be used as alternative conditioning regimens. The CD45-SAP immunotoxin regimen specifically targets the CD45.2 isoform while sparing CD45.1 and could possibly be used to specifically deplete host CD45.2 HSCs while sparing already engrafted CD45.1 donor HSCs also after transplantation (Palchaudhuri *et al.*, 2016).

The effects caused by irradiation and chemotherapy on the niche microenvironment plays an important role in HSC regeneration following transplantation. The selective ablation of the sinusoidal niche is compensated for by re-localisation of HSCs to the endosteal and arteriolar niches and demonstrates the importance and capability of both niche and hematopoietic cells to adapt to stress (Fielding *et al.*, 2022; Himburg *et al.*, 2018; Hooper *et al.*, 2009; Saçma *et al.*, 2019; Xie *et al.*, 2009). In this context, less is known whether subtypes of HSCs react and adapt in a similar manner, and how differences between HSCs and leukemic stem and progenitor cells influence transplantation outcome in this regard. In Paper III we demonstrated that even small differences in HSC proliferation and adhesion can read out differently depending on the conditioning. It would be interesting to investigate how HSC subtypes differ in their homing and engrafting properties depending on the conditioning, and if such differences could be used to improve and adapt transplantation regimens.

Closing remarks

It is difficult to predict if or how individual findings in basic research will impact the research community, clinical advancements and, in the end, our society. My hope is of course that the years of fun, but hard work will be one stepping stone for future research in regenerative medicine. Currently, personalised and precision medicine is becoming an alternative for a growing number of diseases, and gene therapy is one example where there is hope for cures of currently incurable diseases. Here, a better understanding of factors regulating homing and engraftment after mild conditioning can provide better outcomes after transplantation, and we hope that our *Gata2* model can add information in this aspect. The long-term risks of proliferative stress inflicted on transplanted HSCs highlight the importance to regulate the regenerative process with extreme precision. The work in Paper I and II have improved current protocols to identify regenerating HSC and added to the knowledge of genes and processes regulating activation and quiescence. These findings can be important for future improvements of transplantations, *ex vivo* expansion of HSCs, and help in understanding mechanisms of malignant transformation.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to thank my supervisor, **Jonas**. I think you know how happy I am to have ended up working with you. You have always shown a lot of trust, which has given me both motivation and room to grow as a scientist. I truly appreciate your leadership, your deep knowledge in the field, and for continuously challenging me in science as well as in LL.

A big thanks to my two co-supervisors. **Kenichi**, your presence and driving force in the KAW project was instrumental. I really miss having you around! **David**, you were always available when we needed an extra pair of eyes and thoughts on a project.

Working in science is much more than just doing experiments and writing papers. For me, it requires an open working environment with respect, excitement, ambition, and support. All of that is created by the people working on A12.

Stefan, thanks for creating such a great place, for your hospitality and for all the Christmas drinks at your place (big thanks to **Sigurborg** as well). Thanks, **Mattias** for fun discussions about science, kids and the hardships of life, and thanks **Johan F**, **Bjarne**, **Nick**, **Filipe**, **Jörg**, and **Johan R** for sharing all your expertise and for continuously developing A12.

Alex RN and Jenny, the input you gave me on my half time review, and the discussions we had really gave me a boost of confidence. I love science when it's like that.

Aurélie and **Mehrnaz**, best buddies! Both of you took me under your wings when I first joined A12. You made me feel at home. Since then, we have developed a friendship that I cherish so much and that I know will last. Love you for that!

Els and **Valli**, also best buddies! You never hesitate to join me on the wild side. Or to support me through tough times. I MISS YOU!

All present and former members of the Larsson group. Thanks for all the questions, good ideas, extra hands that has pushed my projects forward. This has been invaluable. **Natsumi**, you are the best possible colleague! I really enjoyed working with you during all these years. Thanks **Julia**, for sharing our quiet office dungeon, for agreeing to be part of the OYP, and fun times in NY. **Kris, Alexandra, Agathees** and **Ludwig** for an awesome time in Australia, and for being experts in the fine art

of filmmaking. **Tyra** and **Hanna** for bringing some fresh (cord)blood to the lab. Thanks also to **Roman, Gustav, David, Justyna, Virginia**.

All the people working together on the KAW project, especially Hooi Min and Abhishek who did a tremendous amount of work, but also Maroulitsa, Els, Mark, Agathees, Shamit, Kenichi, Stefan, Björn, Roman and Tariq.

Rita, I really enjoyed working with you on your cool bookmarking. Thanks for the trust. **Sarah** and **Yang**, thanks for letting me be a small part of your projects.

Ineke, Xiaojie, and Beata, groetjes, xie xie, and dzieki for everything you do to make things work on the floor and for being the best lunch company with great laughs. Without you we are all lost. Present and past office friends Sofia, Maria, Karolina, Ilana, I think we have darkest office on the floor. Thanks for lightening it up. Camila, Mezie, Pavan, Leal, you are glue-people, magnets, chemoattractants. Your positive spirit and energy are contagious. Gabriela, your dedication to everything you put your mind to is amazing. Christine, thanks for being such a good listener and friend. Roksana, always hard-working, always inspiring, always great to hang out with.

A special thanks also to our sister floor B12 and the people working there, in particular **Anna** and **Zhi** for your excellence in keeping the flow going, and **Göran**, **Charlotta**, **Ania**, **Quinyu**, **Shamit**, and **Jenny** for always being helpful, enthusiastic, and showing interest in my work. Thanks, Mikael, for teaching gen Z all about stem cells together with me.

Anna H, I really enjoy our rare but regular visits to Inferno.

Cat, Ines, Manoj, Petter and Aftab, thanks for all the fun times together back in the old days.

The gym and sauna gang, Johanna, Jonas, Elena, Sara, Roger, Mohamed, Stefan, Sandro, Julie, Ganna, Rasmus, Maria.. it is such a great way to end a working week to sweat away while listening to Sally with you guys.

A short but warm thanks to great friends that I wish I could spend so much more time with, **Frida**, **Mirtha**, **Mehdi**, **Cécile**, **Bruno**, **Tiphaine**, **Olivier**, **Lola**.

My family, **mom**, **dad**, **Johan**, you are the people who have shaped me to who I am today. It feels so comforting to know that I can always rely on you for any kind of support. I love you for that.

And last, to my two favourite people on this planet, **Ella**, and **Axel**, you make me so proud.

References

- Abbuehl, J.P., Tatarova, Z., Held, W., and Huelsken, J. (2017). Long-Term Engraftment of Primary Bone Marrow Stromal Cells Repairs Niche Damage and Improves Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. Cell Stem Cell 21, 241-255.e246. 10.1016/j.stem.2017.07.004.
- Adolfsson, J., Borge, O.J., Bryder, D., Theilgaard-Mönch, K., Astrand-Grundström, I., Sitnicka, E., Sasaki, Y., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2001). Upregulation of Flt3 expression within the bone marrow Lin(-)Sca1(+)c-kit(+) stem cell compartment is accompanied by loss of self-renewal capacity. Immunity 15, 659-669. 10.1016/s1074-7613(01)00220-5.
- Asada, N., Kunisaki, Y., Pierce, H., Wang, Z., Fernandez, N.F., Birbrair, A., Ma'ayan, A., and Frenette, P.S. (2017). Differential cytokine contributions of perivascular haematopoietic stem cell niches. Nat Cell Biol 19, 214-223. 10.1038/ncb3475.
- Baccin, C., Al-Sabah, J., Velten, L., Helbling, P.M., Grünschläger, F., Hernández-Malmierca, P., Nombela-Arrieta, C., Steinmetz, L.M., Trumpp, A., and Haas, S. (2020). Combined single-cell and spatial transcriptomics reveal the molecular, cellular and spatial bone marrow niche organization. Nat Cell Biol 22, 38-48. 10.1038/s41556-019-0439-6.
- Baker, S.J., Rane, S.G., and Reddy, E.P. (2007). Hematopoietic cytokine receptor signaling. Oncogene 26, 6724-6737. 10.1038/sj.onc.1210757.
- Baldridge, M.T., King, K.Y., Boles, N.C., Weksberg, D.C., and Goodell, M.A. (2010). Quiescent haematopoietic stem cells are activated by IFN-gamma in response to chronic infection. Nature 465, 793-797. 10.1038/nature09135.
- Banjac, I., Maimets, M., and Jensen, K.B. (2023). Maintenance of high-turnover tissues during and beyond homeostasis. Cell Stem Cell 30, 348-361. 10.1016/j.stem.2023.03.008.
- Barker, J.E. (1968). Development of the mouse hematopoietic system. I. Types of hemoglobin produced in embryonic yolk sac and liver. Dev Biol 18, 14-29. 10.1016/0012-1606(68)90020-1.
- Baryawno, N., Przybylski, D., Kowalczyk, M.S., Kfoury, Y., Severe, N., Gustafsson, K., Kokkaliaris, K.D., Mercier, F., Tabaka, M., Hofree, M., et al. (2019). A Cellular Taxonomy of the Bone Marrow Stroma in Homeostasis and Leukemia. Cell 177, 1915-1932.e1916. 10.1016/j.cell.2019.04.040.
- Becker, A.J., Mc, C.E., and Till, J.E. (1963). Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. Nature 197, 452-454. 10.1038/197452a0.

- Beerman, I., Bock, C., Garrison, B.S., Smith, Z.D., Gu, H., Meissner, A., and Rossi, D.J. (2013). Proliferation-dependent alterations of the DNA methylation landscape underlie hematopoietic stem cell aging. Cell Stem Cell 12, 413-425. 10.1016/j.stem.2013.01.017.
- Bekker, L.G., Beyrer, C., Mgodi, N., Lewin, S.R., Delany-Moretlwe, S., Taiwo, B., Masters, M.C., and Lazarus, J.V. (2023). HIV infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers 9, 42. 10.1038/s41572-023-00452-3.
- Biasco, L., Pellin, D., Scala, S., Dionisio, F., Basso-Ricci, L., Leonardelli, L., Scaramuzza, S., Baricordi, C., Ferrua, F., Cicalese, M.P., et al. (2016). In Vivo Tracking of Human Hematopoiesis Reveals Patterns of Clonal Dynamics during Early and Steady-State Reconstitution Phases. Cell Stem Cell 19, 107-119. 10.1016/j.stem.2016.04.016.
- Bindels, E.M., Havermans, M., Lugthart, S., Erpelinck, C., Wocjtowicz, E., Krivtsov,
 A.V., Rombouts, E., Armstrong, S.A., Taskesen, E., Haanstra, J.R., et al. (2012).
 EVI1 is critical for the pathogenesis of a subset of MLL-AF9-rearranged AMLs.
 Blood *119*, 5838-5849. 10.1182/blood-2011-11-393827.
- Bogeska, R., Mikecin, A.M., Kaschutnig, P., Fawaz, M., Büchler-Schäff, M., Le, D., Ganuza, M., Vollmer, A., Paffenholz, S.V., Asada, N., et al. (2022). Inflammatory exposure drives long-lived impairment of hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal activity and accelerated aging. Cell Stem Cell 29, 1273-1284.e1278. 10.1016/j.stem.2022.06.012.
- Bowie, M.B., Kent, D.G., Dykstra, B., McKnight, K.D., McCaffrey, L., Hoodless, P.A., and Eaves, C.J. (2007). Identification of a new intrinsically timed developmental checkpoint that reprograms key hematopoietic stem cell properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 5878-5882. 10.1073/pnas.0700460104.
- Brewer, C., Chu, E., Chin, M., and Lu, R. (2016). Transplantation Dose Alters the Differentiation Program of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Cell Rep 15, 1848-1857. 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.061.
- Bruzzese, A., Leardini, D., Masetti, R., Strocchio, L., Girardi, K., Algeri, M., Del Baldo, G., Locatelli, F., and Mastronuzzi, A. (2020). GATA2 Related Conditions and Predisposition to Pediatric Myelodysplastic Syndromes. Cancers (Basel) 12. 10.3390/cancers12102962.
- Busch, K., Klapproth, K., Barile, M., Flossdorf, M., Holland-Letz, T., Schlenner, S.M., Reth, M., Hofer, T., and Rodewald, H.R. (2015). Fundamental properties of unperturbed haematopoiesis from stem cells in vivo. Nature 518, 542-546. 10.1038/nature14242.
- Cabezas-Wallscheid, N., Buettner, F., Sommerkamp, P., Klimmeck, D., Ladel, L., Thalheimer, F.B., Pastor-Flores, D., Roma, L.P., Renders, S., Zeisberger, P., et al. (2017). Vitamin A-Retinoic Acid Signaling Regulates Hematopoietic Stem Cell Dormancy. Cell 169, 807-823 e819. 10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.018.
- Canarutto, D., Omer Javed, A., Pedrazzani, G., Ferrari, S., and Naldini, L. (2023). Mobilization-based engraftment of haematopoietic stem cells: a new perspective for chemotherapy-free gene therapy and transplantation. Br Med Bull 147, 108-120. 10.1093/bmb/ldad017.

- Cao, X., Wu, X., Frassica, D., Yu, B., Pang, L., Xian, L., Wan, M., Lei, W., Armour, M., Tryggestad, E., et al. (2011). Irradiation induces bone injury by damaging bone marrow microenvironment for stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108, 1609-1614. 10.1073/pnas.1015350108.
- Carrelha, J., Meng, Y., Kettyle, L.M., Luis, T.C., Norfo, R., Alcolea, V., Boukarabila, H., Grasso, F., Gambardella, A., Grover, A., et al. (2018). Hierarchically related lineagerestricted fates of multipotent haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 554, 106-111. 10.1038/nature25455.
- Challen, G.A., Boles, N.C., Chambers, S.M., and Goodell, M.A. (2010). Distinct hematopoietic stem cell subtypes are differentially regulated by TGF-beta1. Cell Stem Cell *6*, 265-278. 10.1016/j.stem.2010.02.002.
- Challen, G.A., and Goodell, M.A. (2008). Promiscuous expression of H2B-GFP transgene in hematopoietic stem cells. PLoS One *3*, e2357. 10.1371/journal.pone.0002357.
- Chan, C.K., Chen, C.C., Luppen, C.A., Kim, J.B., DeBoer, A.T., Wei, K., Helms, J.A., Kuo, C.J., Kraft, D.L., and Weissman, I.L. (2009). Endochondral ossification is required for haematopoietic stem-cell niche formation. Nature 457, 490-494. 10.1038/nature07547.
- Chapple, R.H., Tseng, Y.J., Hu, T., Kitano, A., Takeichi, M., Hoegenauer, K.A., and Nakada, D. (2018). Lineage tracing of murine adult hematopoietic stem cells reveals active contribution to steady-state hematopoiesis. Blood Adv 2, 1220-1228. 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018016295.
- Che, J.L.C., Bode, D., Kucinski, I., Cull, A.H., Bain, F., Becker, H.J., Jassinskaja, M., Barile, M., Boyd, G., Belmonte, M., et al. (2022). Identification and characterization of in vitro expanded hematopoietic stem cells. EMBO Rep 23, e55502. 10.15252/embr.202255502.
- Chen, C., Liu, Y., Liu, R., Ikenoue, T., Guan, K.L., Liu, Y., and Zheng, P. (2008). TSCmTOR maintains quiescence and function of hematopoietic stem cells by repressing mitochondrial biogenesis and reactive oxygen species. J Exp Med 205, 2397-2408. 10.1084/jem.20081297.
- Christensen, J.L., and Weissman, I.L. (2001). Flk-2 is a marker in hematopoietic stem cell differentiation: a simple method to isolate long-term stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 14541-14546. 10.1073/pnas.261562798.
- Christodoulou, C., Spencer, J.A., Yeh, S.A., Turcotte, R., Kokkaliaris, K.D., Panero, R., Ramos, A., Guo, G., Seyedhassantehrani, N., Esipova, T.V., et al. (2020). Liveanimal imaging of native haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Nature *578*, 278-283. 10.1038/s41586-020-1971-z.
- Czechowicz, A., Kraft, D., Weissman, I.L., and Bhattacharya, D. (2007). Efficient transplantation via antibody-based clearance of hematopoietic stem cell niches. Science *318*, 1296-1299. 10.1126/science.1149726.
- Dahl, M., Warsi, S., Liu, Y., Debnath, S., Billing, M., Siva, K., Flygare, J., and Karlsson, S. (2021). Bone marrow transplantation without myeloablative conditioning in a mouse model for Diamond-Blackfan anemia corrects the disease phenotype. Exp Hematol 99, 44-53.e42. 10.1016/j.exphem.2021.06.002.

- de Pater, E., Kaimakis, P., Vink, C.S., Yokomizo, T., Yamada-Inagawa, T., van der Linden, R., Kartalaei, P.S., Camper, S.A., Speck, N., and Dzierzak, E. (2013). Gata2 is required for HSC generation and survival. J Exp Med 210, 2843-2850. 10.1084/jem.20130751.
- Dholakia, U., Bandyopadhyay, S., Hod, E.A., and Prestia, K.A. (2015). Determination of RBC Survival in C57BL/6 and C57BL/6-Tg(UBC-GFP) Mice. Comp Med 65, 196-201.
- Dick, J.E., Magli, M.C., Huszar, D., Phillips, R.A., and Bernstein, A. (1985). Introduction of a selectable gene into primitive stem cells capable of long-term reconstitution of the hemopoietic system of W/Wv mice. Cell 42, 71-79. 10.1016/s0092-8674(85)80102-1.
- Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. Nature 495, 231-235. 10.1038/nature11885.
- Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G., and Morrison, S.J. (2012). Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *481*, 457-462. 10.1038/nature10783.
- Domen, J., Gandy, K.L., and Weissman, I.L. (1998). Systemic overexpression of BCL-2 in the hematopoietic system protects transgenic mice from the consequences of lethal irradiation. Blood *91*, 2272-2282.
- Dominici, M., Rasini, V., Bussolari, R., Chen, X., Hofmann, T.J., Spano, C., Bernabei, D., Veronesi, E., Bertoni, F., Paolucci, P., et al. (2009). Restoration and reversible expansion of the osteoblastic hematopoietic stem cell niche after marrow radioablation. Blood 114, 2333-2343. 10.1182/blood-2008-10-183459.
- Dong, F., Hao, S., Zhang, S., Zhu, C., Cheng, H., Yang, Z., Hamey, F.K., Wang, X., Gao, A., Wang, F., et al. (2020). Differentiation of transplanted haematopoietic stem cells tracked by single-cell transcriptomic analysis. Nat Cell Biol 22, 630-639. 10.1038/s41556-020-0512-1.
- Dykstra, B., Kent, D., Bowie, M., McCaffrey, L., Hamilton, M., Lyons, K., Lee, S.J., Brinkman, R., and Eaves, C. (2007). Long-term propagation of distinct hematopoietic differentiation programs in vivo. Cell Stem Cell 1, 218-229. 10.1016/j.stem.2007.05.015.
- Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2000). Expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in the developing liver of a mouse embryo. Blood *95*, 2284-2288.
- Essers, M.A., Offner, S., Blanco-Bose, W.E., Waibler, Z., Kalinke, U., Duchosal, M.A., and Trumpp, A. (2009). IFNalpha activates dormant haematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Nature 458, 904-908. 10.1038/nature07815.
- Fanti, A.K., Busch, K., Greco, A., Wang, X., Cirovic, B., Shang, F., Nizharadze, T., Frank, L., Barile, M., Feyerabend, T.B., et al. (2023). Flt3- and Tie2-Cre tracing identifies regeneration in sepsis from multipotent progenitors but not hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 30, 207-218.e207. 10.1016/j.stem.2022.12.014.

- Fares, I., Chagraoui, J., Gareau, Y., Gingras, S., Ruel, R., Mayotte, N., Csaszar, E., Knapp, D.J., Miller, P., Ngom, M., et al. (2014). Cord blood expansion. Pyrimidoindole derivatives are agonists of human hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal. Science 345, 1509-1512. 10.1126/science.1256337.
- Fast, E.M., Sporrij, A., Manning, M., Rocha, E.L., Yang, S., Zhou, Y., Guo, J., Baryawno, N., Barkas, N., Scadden, D., et al. (2021). External signals regulate continuous transcriptional states in hematopoietic stem cells. Elife 10. 10.7554/eLife.66512.
- Fielding, C., García-García, A., Korn, C., Gadomski, S., Fang, Z., Reguera, J.L., Pérez-Simón, J.A., Göttgens, B., and Méndez-Ferrer, S. (2022). Cholinergic signals preserve haematopoietic stem cell quiescence during regenerative haematopoiesis. Nat Commun 13, 543. 10.1038/s41467-022-28175-1.
- Fischer, A., Notarangelo, L.D., Neven, B., Cavazzana, M., and Puck, J.M. (2015). Severe combined immunodeficiencies and related disorders. Nat Rev Dis Primers *1*, 15061. 10.1038/nrdp.2015.61.
- Foudi, A., Hochedlinger, K., Van Buren, D., Schindler, J.W., Jaenisch, R., Carey, V., and Hock, H. (2009). Analysis of histone 2B-GFP retention reveals slowly cycling hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 27, 84-90. 10.1038/nbt.1517.
- Ganuza, M., Hall, T., Finkelstein, D., Wang, Y.D., Chabot, A., Kang, G., Bi, W., Wu, G., and McKinney-Freeman, S. (2019). The global clonal complexity of the murine blood system declines throughout life and after serial transplantation. Blood *133*, 1927-1942. 10.1182/blood-2018-09-873059.
- Gazit, R., Mandal, P.K., Ebina, W., Ben-Zvi, A., Nombela-Arrieta, C., Silberstein, L.E., and Rossi, D.J. (2014). Fgd5 identifies hematopoietic stem cells in the murine bone marrow. J Exp Med 211, 1315-1331. 10.1084/jem.20130428.
- Gekas, C., and Graf, T. (2013). CD41 expression marks myeloid-biased adult hematopoietic stem cells and increases with age. Blood *121*, 4463-4472. 10.1182/blood-2012-09-457929.
- Georgiades, P., Ogilvy, S., Duval, H., Licence, D.R., Charnock-Jones, D.S., Smith, S.K., and Print, C.G. (2002). VavCre transgenic mice: a tool for mutagenesis in hematopoietic and endothelial lineages. Genesis *34*, 251-256. 10.1002/gene.10161.
- Germeshausen, M., Ancliff, P., Estrada, J., Metzler, M., Ponstingl, E., Rütschle, H., Schwabe, D., Scott, R.H., Unal, S., Wawer, A., et al. (2018). MECOM-associated syndrome: a heterogeneous inherited bone marrow failure syndrome with amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia. Blood Adv 2, 586-596. 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018016501.
- Giladi, A., Paul, F., Herzog, Y., Lubling, Y., Weiner, A., Yofe, I., Jaitin, D., Cabezas-Wallscheid, N., Dress, R., Ginhoux, F., et al. (2018). Single-cell characterization of haematopoietic progenitors and their trajectories in homeostasis and perturbed haematopoiesis. Nat Cell Biol 20, 836-846. 10.1038/s41556-018-0121-4.
- Golub, T.R., Slonim, D.K., Tamayo, P., Huard, C., Gaasenbeek, M., Mesirov, J.P., Coller, H., Loh, M.L., Downing, J.R., Caligiuri, M.A., et al. (1999). Molecular classification of cancer: class discovery and class prediction by gene expression monitoring. Science 286, 531-537. 10.1126/science.286.5439.531.

- Goodell, M.A., Brose, K., Paradis, G., Conner, A.S., and Mulligan, R.C. (1996). Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med 183, 1797-1806. 10.1084/jem.183.4.1797.
- Gossen, M., and Bujard, H. (1992). Tight control of gene expression in mammalian cells by tetracycline-responsive promoters. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 5547-5551. 10.1073/pnas.89.12.5547.
- Gossen, M., Freundlieb, S., Bender, G., Müller, G., Hillen, W., and Bujard, H. (1995). Transcriptional activation by tetracyclines in mammalian cells. Science 268, 1766-1769. 10.1126/science.7792603.
- Grandi, F.C., Modi, H., Kampman, L., and Corces, M.R. (2022). Chromatin accessibility profiling by ATAC-seq. Nat Protoc 17, 1518-1552. 10.1038/s41596-022-00692-9.
- Greek, R., Pippus, A., and Hansen, L.A. (2012). The Nuremberg Code subverts human health and safety by requiring animal modeling. BMC Med Ethics *13*, 16. 10.1186/1472-6939-13-16.
- Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y.M., Day, R.B., Schuettpelz, L.G., Christopher, M.J., Borgerding, J.N., Nagasawa, T., and Link, D.C. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. Nature 495, 227-230. 10.1038/nature11926.
- Guderyon, M.J., Chen, C., Bhattacharjee, A., Ge, G., Fernandez, R.A., Gelfond, J.A.L., Gorena, K.M., Cheng, C.J., Li, Y., Nelson, J.F., et al. (2020). Mobilization-based transplantation of young-donor hematopoietic stem cells extends lifespan in mice. Aging Cell *19*, e13110. 10.1111/acel.13110.
- Guo, F., Zhang, S., Grogg, M., Cancelas, J.A., Varney, M.E., Starczynowski, D.T., Du, W., Yang, J.Q., Liu, W., Thomas, G., et al. (2013). Mouse gene targeting reveals an essential role of mTOR in hematopoietic stem cell engraftment and hematopoiesis. Haematologica 98, 1353-1358. 10.3324/haematol.2012.080424.
- Hahn, C.N., Chong, C.E., Carmichael, C.L., Wilkins, E.J., Brautigan, P.J., Li, X.C., Babic, M., Lin, M., Carmagnac, A., Lee, Y.K., et al. (2011). Heritable GATA2 mutations associated with familial myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. Nat Genet 43, 1012-1017. 10.1038/ng.913.
- Hannon, G.J., and Rossi, J.J. (2004). Unlocking the potential of the human genome with RNA interference. Nature 431, 371-378. 10.1038/nature02870.
- Heazlewood, S.Y., Oteiza, A., Cao, H., and Nilsson, S.K. (2014). Analyzing hematopoietic stem cell homing, lodgment, and engraftment to better understand the bone marrow niche. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1310*, 119-128. 10.1111/nyas.12329.
- Hemmati, S., Sinclair, T., Tong, M., Bartholdy, B., Okabe, R.O., Ames, K., Ostrodka, L., Haque, T., Kaur, I., Mills, T.S., et al. (2019). PI3 kinase alpha and delta promote hematopoietic stem cell activation. JCI Insight 5. 10.1172/jci.insight.125832.
- Hidalgo San Jose, L., Sunshine, M.J., Dillingham, C.H., Chua, B.A., Kruta, M., Hong, Y., Hatters, D.M., and Signer, R.A.J. (2020). Modest Declines in Proteome Quality Impair Hematopoietic Stem Cell Self-Renewal. Cell Rep 30, 69-80 e66. 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.003.

- Himburg, H.A., Termini, C.M., Schlussel, L., Kan, J., Li, M., Zhao, L., Fang, T., Sasine, J.P., Chang, V.Y., and Chute, J.P. (2018). Distinct Bone Marrow Sources of Pleiotrophin Control Hematopoietic Stem Cell Maintenance and Regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 23, 370-381.e375. 10.1016/j.stem.2018.07.003.
- Hinge, A., He, J., Bartram, J., Javier, J., Xu, J., Fjellman, E., Sesaki, H., Li, T., Yu, J., Wunderlich, M., et al. (2020). Asymmetrically Segregated Mitochondria Provide Cellular Memory of Hematopoietic Stem Cell Replicative History and Drive HSC Attrition. Cell Stem Cell 26, 420-430 e426. 10.1016/j.stem.2020.01.016.
- Hooper, A.T., Butler, J.M., Nolan, D.J., Kranz, A., Iida, K., Kobayashi, M., Kopp, H.G., Shido, K., Petit, I., Yanger, K., et al. (2009). Engraftment and reconstitution of hematopoiesis is dependent on VEGFR2-mediated regeneration of sinusoidal endothelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 4, 263-274. 10.1016/j.stem.2009.01.006.
- Hosokawa, K., Arai, F., Yoshihara, H., Iwasaki, H., Hembree, M., Yin, T., Nakamura, Y., Gomei, Y., Takubo, K., Shiama, H., et al. (2010a). Cadherin-based adhesion is a potential target for niche manipulation to protect hematopoietic stem cells in adult bone marrow. Cell Stem Cell *6*, 194-198. 10.1016/j.stem.2009.04.013.
- Hosokawa, K., Arai, F., Yoshihara, H., Iwasaki, H., Nakamura, Y., Gomei, Y., and Suda, T. (2010b). Knockdown of N-cadherin suppresses the long-term engraftment of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *116*, 554-563. 10.1182/blood-2009-05-224857.
- Ikuta, K., and Weissman, I.L. (1992). Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 1502-1506. 10.1073/pnas.89.4.1502.
- Inaba, T., Roberts, W.M., Shapiro, L.H., Jolly, K.W., Raimondi, S.C., Smith, S.D., and Look, A.T. (1992). Fusion of the leucine zipper gene HLF to the E2A gene in human acute B-lineage leukemia. Science 257, 531-534. 10.1126/science.1386162.
- Ito, K., Carracedo, A., Weiss, D., Arai, F., Ala, U., Avigan, D.E., Schafer, Z.T., Evans, R.M., Suda, T., Lee, C.H., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2012). A PML-PPAR-delta pathway for fatty acid oxidation regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. Nat Med 18, 1350-1358. 10.1038/nm.2882.
- Ito, K., Hirao, A., Arai, F., Matsuoka, S., Takubo, K., Hamaguchi, I., Nomiyama, K., Hosokawa, K., Sakurada, K., Nakagata, N., et al. (2004). Regulation of oxidative stress by ATM is required for self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 431, 997-1002. 10.1038/nature02989.
- Ito, K., Turcotte, R., Cui, J., Zimmerman, S.E., Pinho, S., Mizoguchi, T., Arai, F., Runnels, J.M., Alt, C., Teruya-Feldstein, J., et al. (2016). Self-renewal of a purified Tie2+ hematopoietic stem cell population relies on mitochondrial clearance. Science 354, 1156-1160. 10.1126/science.aaf5530.
- Jansen, J. (2005). The first successful allogeneic bone-marrow transplant: Georges Mathé. Transfus Med Rev 19, 246-248. 10.1016/j.tmrv.2005.02.006.
- Katajisto, P., Dohla, J., Chaffer, C.L., Pentinmikko, N., Marjanovic, N., Iqbal, S., Zoncu, R., Chen, W., Weinberg, R.A., and Sabatini, D.M. (2015). Stem cells. Asymmetric apportioning of aged mitochondria between daughter cells is required for stemness. Science 348, 340-343. 10.1126/science.1260384.

- Katayama, Y., Battista, M., Kao, W.M., Hidalgo, A., Peired, A.J., Thomas, S.A., and Frenette, P.S. (2006). Signals from the sympathetic nervous system regulate hematopoietic stem cell egress from bone marrow. Cell 124, 407-421. 10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.041.
- Katz, J. (1996). The Nuremberg Code and the Nuremberg Trial. A reappraisal. Jama 276, 1662-1666.
- Kaur, S., Raggatt, L.J., Millard, S.M., Wu, A.C., Batoon, L., Jacobsen, R.N., Winkler, I.G., MacDonald, K.P., Perkins, A.C., Hume, D.A., et al. (2018). Self-repopulating recipient bone marrow resident macrophages promote long-term hematopoietic stem cell engraftment. Blood 132, 735-749. 10.1182/blood-2018-01-829663.
- Keller, G., Paige, C., Gilboa, E., and Wagner, E.F. (1985). Expression of a foreign gene in myeloid and lymphoid cells derived from multipotent haematopoietic precursors. Nature 318, 149-154. 10.1038/318149a0.
- Kiel, M.J., Acar, M., Radice, G.L., and Morrison, S.J. (2009). Hematopoietic stem cells do not depend on N-cadherin to regulate their maintenance. Cell Stem Cell 4, 170-179. 10.1016/j.stem.2008.10.005.
- Kiel, M.J., Radice, G.L., and Morrison, S.J. (2007). Lack of evidence that hematopoietic stem cells depend on N-cadherin-mediated adhesion to osteoblasts for their maintenance. Cell Stem Cell 1, 204-217. 10.1016/j.stem.2007.06.001.
- Kiel, M.J., Yilmaz, O.H., Iwashita, T., Yilmaz, O.H., Terhorst, C., and Morrison, S.J. (2005). SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell *121*, 1109-1121. 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.026.
- Kirkeby, A., Nelander, J., Hoban, D.B., Rogelius, N., Bjartmarz, H., Storm, P., Fiorenzano, A., Adler, A.F., Vale, S., Mudannayake, J., et al. (2023). Preclinical quality, safety, and efficacy of a human embryonic stem cell-derived product for the treatment of Parkinson's disease, STEM-PD. Cell Stem Cell 30, 1299-1314.e1299. 10.1016/j.stem.2023.08.014.
- Kistner, A., Gossen, M., Zimmermann, F., Jerecic, J., Ullmer, C., Lübbert, H., and Bujard, H. (1996). Doxycycline-mediated quantitative and tissue-specific control of gene expression in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 10933-10938. 10.1073/pnas.93.20.10933.
- Knott, G.J., and Doudna, J.A. (2018). CRISPR-Cas guides the future of genetic engineering. Science *361*, 866-869. 10.1126/science.aat5011.
- Koide, S., Sigurdsson, V., Radulovic, V., Saito, K., Zheng, Z., Lang, S., Soneji, S., Iwama, A., and Miharada, K. (2022). CD244 expression represents functional decline of murine hematopoietic stem cells after in vitro culture. iScience 25, 103603. 10.1016/j.isci.2021.103603.
- Kolter, J., Henneke, P., Groß, O., Kierdorf, K., Prinz, M., Graf, L., and Schwemmle, M. (2022). Paradoxical immunodeficiencies-When failures of innate immunity cause immunopathology. Eur J Immunol 52, 1419-1430. 10.1002/eji.202149531.

- Komorowska, K., Doyle, A., Wahlestedt, M., Subramaniam, A., Debnath, S., Chen, J., Soneji, S., Van Handel, B., Mikkola, H.K.A., Miharada, K., et al. (2017). Hepatic Leukemia Factor Maintains Quiescence of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Protects the Stem Cell Pool during Regeneration. Cell Rep 21, 3514-3523. 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.11.084.
- Kono, H., and Rock, K.L. (2008). How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol *8*, 279-289. 10.1038/nri2215.
- Konturek-Ciesla, A., Dhapola, P., Zhang, Q., Säwén, P., Wan, H., Karlsson, G., and Bryder, D. (2023). Temporal multimodal single-cell profiling of native hematopoiesis illuminates altered differentiation trajectories with age. Cell Rep 42, 112304. 10.1016/j.celrep.2023.112304.
- Kovtonyuk, L.V., Caiado, F., Garcia-Martin, S., Manz, E.M., Helbling, P., Takizawa, H., Boettcher, S., Al-Shahrour, F., Nombela-Arrieta, C., Slack, E., and Manz, M.G. (2022). IL-1 mediates microbiome-induced inflammaging of hematopoietic stem cells in mice. Blood *139*, 44-58. 10.1182/blood.2021011570.
- Kühn, R., Schwenk, F., Aguet, M., and Rajewsky, K. (1995). Inducible gene targeting in mice. Science 269, 1427-1429. 10.1126/science.7660125.
- Kunisaki, Y., Bruns, I., Scheiermann, C., Ahmed, J., Pinho, S., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Wei, Q., Lucas, D., Ito, K., et al. (2013). Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nature 502, 637-643. 10.1038/nature12612.
- Laurenti, E., Varnum-Finney, B., Wilson, A., Ferrero, I., Blanco-Bose, W.E., Ehninger, A., Knoepfler, P.S., Cheng, P.F., MacDonald, H.R., Eisenman, R.N., et al. (2008). Hematopoietic stem cell function and survival depend on c-Myc and N-Myc activity. Cell Stem Cell 3, 611-624. 10.1016/j.stem.2008.09.005.
- Lee-Six, H., Øbro, N.F., Shepherd, M.S., Grossmann, S., Dawson, K., Belmonte, M., Osborne, R.J., Huntly, B.J.P., Martincorena, I., Anderson, E., et al. (2018). Population dynamics of normal human blood inferred from somatic mutations. Nature 561, 473-478. 10.1038/s41586-018-0497-0.
- Lemischka, I.R., Raulet, D.H., and Mulligan, R.C. (1986). Developmental potential and dynamic behavior of hematopoietic stem cells. Cell 45, 917-927. 10.1016/0092-8674(86)90566-0.
- Lévesque, J.P., Hendy, J., Takamatsu, Y., Simmons, P.J., and Bendall, L.J. (2003). Disruption of the CXCR4/CXCL12 chemotactic interaction during hematopoietic stem cell mobilization induced by GCSF or cyclophosphamide. J Clin Invest 111, 187-196. 10.1172/jci15994.
- Ling, K.W., Ottersbach, K., van Hamburg, J.P., Oziemlak, A., Tsai, F.Y., Orkin, S.H., Ploemacher, R., Hendriks, R.W., and Dzierzak, E. (2004). GATA-2 plays two functionally distinct roles during the ontogeny of hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med 200, 871-882. 10.1084/jem.20031556.
- Liu, T., Zhang, L., Joo, D., and Sun, S.C. (2017). NF-κB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2, 17023-. 10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23.

- Loeffler, D., Wehling, A., Schneiter, F., Zhang, Y., Muller-Botticher, N., Hoppe, P.S., Hilsenbeck, O., Kokkaliaris, K.D., Endele, M., and Schroeder, T. (2019). Asymmetric lysosome inheritance predicts activation of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 573, 426-429. 10.1038/s41586-019-1531-6.
- Loughran, S.J., Haas, S., Wilkinson, A.C., Klein, A.M., and Brand, M. (2020). Lineage commitment of hematopoietic stem cells and progenitors: insights from recent single cell and lineage tracing technologies. Exp Hematol 88, 1-6. 10.1016/j.exphem.2020.07.002.
- Lu, R., Czechowicz, A., Seita, J., Jiang, D., and Weissman, I.L. (2019). Clonal-level lineage commitment pathways of hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *116*, 1447-1456. 10.1073/pnas.1801480116.
- Luesink, M., Hollink, I.H., van der Velden, V.H., Knops, R.H., Boezeman, J.B., de Haas, V., Trka, J., Baruchel, A., Reinhardt, D., van der Reijden, B.A., et al. (2012). High GATA2 expression is a poor prognostic marker in pediatric acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 120, 2064-2075. 10.1182/blood-2011-12-397083.
- Ma, Z., Xu, J., Wu, L., Wang, J., Lin, Q., Chowdhury, F.A., Mazumder, M.H.H., Hu, G., Li, X., and Du, W. (2020). Hes1 deficiency causes hematopoietic stem cell exhaustion. Stem Cells 38, 756-768. 10.1002/stem.3169.
- Magnusson, M., Brun, A.C., Lawrence, H.J., and Karlsson, S. (2007). Hoxa9/hoxb3/hoxb4 compound null mice display severe hematopoietic defects. Exp Hematol 35, 1421-1428. 10.1016/j.exphem.2007.05.011.
- Mann, M., Mehta, A., de Boer, C.G., Kowalczyk, M.S., Lee, K., Haldeman, P., Rogel, N., Knecht, A.R., Farouq, D., Regev, A., and Baltimore, D. (2018). Heterogeneous Responses of Hematopoietic Stem Cells to Inflammatory Stimuli Are Altered with Age. Cell Rep 25, 2992-3005.e2995. 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.11.056.
- Mansell, E., Sigurdsson, V., Deltcheva, E., Brown, J., James, C., Miharada, K., Soneji, S., Larsson, J., and Enver, T. (2021). Mitochondrial Potentiation Ameliorates Age-Related Heterogeneity in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Function. Cell Stem Cell 28, 241-256 e246. 10.1016/j.stem.2020.09.018.
- Mason, K.D., Carpinelli, M.R., Fletcher, J.I., Collinge, J.E., Hilton, A.A., Ellis, S., Kelly, P.N., Ekert, P.G., Metcalf, D., Roberts, A.W., et al. (2007). Programmed anuclear cell death delimits platelet life span. Cell *128*, 1173-1186. 10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.037.
- Matatall, K.A., Shen, C.C., Challen, G.A., and King, K.Y. (2014). Type II interferon promotes differentiation of myeloid-biased hematopoietic stem cells. Stem Cells *32*, 3023-3030. 10.1002/stem.1799.
- Mathe, G., Jammet, H., Pendic, B., Schwarzenberg, L., Duplan, J.F., Maupin, B., Latarjet, R., Larrieu, M.J., Kalic, D., and Djukic, Z. (1959). [Transfusions and grafts of homologous bone marrow in humans after accidental high dosage irradiation]. Rev Fr Etud Clin Biol 4, 226-238.
- Medvinsky, A., and Dzierzak, E. (1996). Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell *86*, 897-906. 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80165-8.

- Medvinsky, A., Rybtsov, S., and Taoudi, S. (2011). Embryonic origin of the adult hematopoietic system: advances and questions. Development *138*, 1017-1031. 10.1242/dev.040998.
- Menasché, P., Vanneaux, V., Hagège, A., Bel, A., Cholley, B., Cacciapuoti, I., Parouchev, A., Benhamouda, N., Tachdjian, G., Tosca, L., et al. (2015). Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors for severe heart failure treatment: first clinical case report. Eur Heart J 36, 2011-2017. 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv189.
- Méndez-Ferrer, S., Lucas, D., Battista, M., and Frenette, P.S. (2008). Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature 452, 442-447. 10.1038/nature06685.
- Menendez-Gonzalez, J.B., Vukovic, M., Abdelfattah, A., Saleh, L., Almotiri, A., Thomas, L.A., Agirre-Lizaso, A., Azevedo, A., Menezes, A.C., Tornillo, G., et al. (2019).
 Gata2 as a Crucial Regulator of Stem Cells in Adult Hematopoiesis and Acute Myeloid Leukemia. Stem Cell Reports 13, 291-306. 10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.07.005.
- Mercier, F.E., Sykes, D.B., and Scadden, D.T. (2016). Single Targeted Exon Mutation Creates a True Congenic Mouse for Competitive Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: The C57BL/6-CD45.1(STEM) Mouse. Stem Cell Reports 6, 985-992. 10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.04.010.
- Migliaccio, A.R., Carta, C., and Migliaccio, G. (1999). In vivo expansion of purified hematopoietic stem cells transplanted in nonablated W/Wv mice. Exp Hematol 27.
- Morcos, M.N.F., Zerjatke, T., Glauche, I., Munz, C.M., Ge, Y., Petzold, A., Reinhardt, S., Dahl, A., Anstee, N.S., Bogeska, R., et al. (2020). Continuous mitotic activity of primitive hematopoietic stem cells in adult mice. J Exp Med 217. 10.1084/jem.20191284.
- Morganti, C., Cabezas-Wallscheid, N., and Ito, K. (2022). Metabolic Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Hemasphere *6*, e740. 10.1097/hs9.00000000000740.
- Morita, Y., Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2010). Heterogeneity and hierarchy within the most primitive hematopoietic stem cell compartment. J Exp Med 207, 1173-1182. 10.1084/jem.20091318.
- Morrison, S.J., Hemmati, H.D., Wandycz, A.M., and Weissman, I.L. (1995). The purification and characterization of fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 10302-10306.
- Müller, A.M., Medvinsky, A., Strouboulis, J., Grosveld, F., and Dzierzak, E. (1994). Development of hematopoietic stem cell activity in the mouse embryo. Immunity 1, 291-301. 10.1016/1074-7613(94)90081-7.
- Nakano, T., Kodama, H., and Honjo, T. (1994). Generation of lymphohematopoietic cells from embryonic stem cells in culture. Science 265, 1098-1101. 10.1126/science.8066449.
- Noda, S., Horiguchi, K., Ichikawa, H., and Miyoshi, H. (2008). Repopulating activity of ex vivo-expanded murine hematopoietic stem cells resides in the CD48-c-Kit+Sca-1+lineage marker- cell population. Stem Cells *26*, 646-655. 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0623.

- Omer-Javed, A., Pedrazzani, G., Albano, L., Ghaus, S., Latroche, C., Manzi, M., Ferrari, S., Fiumara, M., Jacob, A., Vavassori, V., et al. (2022). Mobilization-based chemotherapy-free engraftment of gene-edited human hematopoietic stem cells. Cell *185*, 2248-2264.e2221. 10.1016/j.cell.2022.04.039.
- Orkin, S.H., and Zon, L.I. (2008). Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell 132, 631-644. 10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.025.
- Osawa, M., Hanada, K., Hamada, H., and Nakauchi, H. (1996). Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34-low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. Science *273*, 242-245. 10.1126/science.273.5272.242.
- Palchaudhuri, R., Saez, B., Hoggatt, J., Schajnovitz, A., Sykes, D.B., Tate, T.A., Czechowicz, A., Kfoury, Y., Ruchika, F., Rossi, D.J., et al. (2016). Non-genotoxic conditioning for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using a hematopoietic-cellspecific internalizing immunotoxin. Nat Biotechnol 34, 738-745. 10.1038/nbt.3584.
- Palis, J. (2014). Primitive and definitive erythropoiesis in mammals. Front Physiol 5, 3. 10.3389/fphys.2014.00003.
- Pamphilon, D., Selogie, E., McKenna, D., Cancelas-Peres, J.A., Szczepiorkowski, Z.M., Sacher, R., McMannis, J., Eichler, H., Garritsen, H., Takanashi, M., et al. (2013). Current practices and prospects for standardization of the hematopoietic colonyforming unit assay: a report by the cellular therapy team of the Biomedical Excellence for Safer Transfusion (BEST) Collaborative. Cytotherapy *15*, 255-262. 10.1016/j.jcyt.2012.11.013.
- Park, P.J. (2009). ChIP-seq: advantages and challenges of a maturing technology. Nat Rev Genet 10, 669-680. 10.1038/nrg2641.
- Passegue, E., Wagers, A.J., Giuriato, S., Anderson, W.C., and Weissman, I.L. (2005). Global analysis of proliferation and cell cycle gene expression in the regulation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell fates. J Exp Med 202, 1599-1611. 10.1084/jem.20050967.
- Pawliuk, R., Eaves, C., and Humphries, R.K. (1996). Evidence of both ontogeny and transplant dose-regulated expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Blood 88, 2852-2858.
- Petit, I., Szyper-Kravitz, M., Nagler, A., Lahav, M., Peled, A., Habler, L., Ponomaryov, T., Taichman, R.S., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Fujii, N., et al. (2002). G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. Nat Immunol 3, 687-694. 10.1038/ni813.
- Pietras, E.M., Lakshminarasimhan, R., Techner, J.M., Fong, S., Flach, J., Binnewies, M., and Passegué, E. (2014). Re-entry into quiescence protects hematopoietic stem cells from the killing effect of chronic exposure to type I interferons. J Exp Med 211, 245-262. 10.1084/jem.20131043.
- Pietras, E.M., Reynaud, D., Kang, Y.A., Carlin, D., Calero-Nieto, F.J., Leavitt, A.D., Stuart, J.M., Gottgens, B., and Passegue, E. (2015). Functionally Distinct Subsets of Lineage-Biased Multipotent Progenitors Control Blood Production in Normal and Regenerative Conditions. Cell Stem Cell 17, 35-46. 10.1016/j.stem.2015.05.003.

- Posselt, G., Schwarz, H., Duschl, A., and Horejs-Hoeck, J. (2011). Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 is a feedback inhibitor of TLR-induced activation in human monocytederived dendritic cells. J Immunol 187, 2875-2884. 10.4049/jimmunol.1003348.
- Purton, L.E., and Scadden, D.T. (2007). Limiting factors in murine hematopoietic stem cell assays. Cell Stem Cell 1, 263-270. 10.1016/j.stem.2007.08.016.
- Qiu, J., Papatsenko, D., Niu, X., Schaniel, C., and Moore, K. (2014). Divisional history and hematopoietic stem cell function during homeostasis. Stem Cell Reports 2, 473-490. 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.01.016.
- Quach, J.M., Askmyr, M., Jovic, T., Baker, E.K., Walsh, N.C., Harrison, S.J., Neeson, P., Ritchie, D., Ebeling, P.R., and Purton, L.E. (2015). Myelosuppressive therapies significantly increase pro-inflammatory cytokines and directly cause bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 30, 886-897. 10.1002/jbmr.2415.
- Rabe, J.L., Hernandez, G., Chavez, J.S., Mills, T.S., Nerlov, C., and Pietras, E.M. (2020). CD34 and EPCR coordinately enrich functional murine hematopoietic stem cells under normal and inflammatory conditions. Exp Hematol 81, 1-15.e16. 10.1016/j.exphem.2019.12.003.
- Radulovic, V., van der Garde, M., Koide, S., Sigurdsson, V., Lang, S., Kaneko, S., and Miharada, K. (2019). Junctional Adhesion Molecule 2 Represents a Subset of Hematopoietic Stem Cells with Enhanced Potential for T Lymphopoiesis. Cell Rep 27, 2826-2836.e2825. 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.028.
- Ramalingam, P., Poulos, M.G., Lazzari, E., Gutkin, M.C., Lopez, D., Kloss, C.C., Crowley, M.J., Katsnelson, L., Freire, A.G., Greenblatt, M.B., et al. (2020). Chronic activation of endothelial MAPK disrupts hematopoiesis via NFKB dependent inflammatory stress reversible by SCGF. Nat Commun 11, 666. 10.1038/s41467-020-14478-8.
- Randall, T.D., and Weissman, I.L. (1997). Phenotypic and Functional Changes Induced at the Clonal Level in Hematopoietic Stem Cells After 5-Fluorouracil Treatment. Blood 89, 3596-3606.
- Rao, D.D., Vorhies, J.S., Senzer, N., and Nemunaitis, J. (2009). siRNA vs. shRNA: similarities and differences. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61, 746-759. 10.1016/j.addr.2009.04.004.
- Renders, S., Svendsen, A.F., Panten, J., Rama, N., Maryanovich, M., Sommerkamp, P., Ladel, L., Redavid, A.R., Gibert, B., Lazare, S., et al. (2021). Niche derived netrin-1 regulates hematopoietic stem cell dormancy via its receptor neogenin-1. Nat Commun 12, 608. 10.1038/s41467-020-20801-0.
- Rodrigues, N.P., Janzen, V., Forkert, R., Dombkowski, D.M., Boyd, A.S., Orkin, S.H., Enver, T., Vyas, P., and Scadden, D.T. (2005). Haploinsufficiency of GATA-2 perturbs adult hematopoietic stem-cell homeostasis. Blood *106*, 477-484. 10.1182/blood-2004-08-2989.
- Rodriguez-Fraticelli, A.E., Weinreb, C., Wang, S.W., Migueles, R.P., Jankovic, M., Usart, M., Klein, A.M., Lowell, S., and Camargo, F.D. (2020). Single-cell lineage tracing unveils a role for TCF15 in haematopoiesis. Nature 583, 585-589. 10.1038/s41586-020-2503-6.

- Rodriguez-Fraticelli, A.E., Wolock, S.L., Weinreb, C.S., Panero, R., Patel, S.H., Jankovic, M., Sun, J., Calogero, R.A., Klein, A.M., and Camargo, F.D. (2018). Clonal analysis of lineage fate in native haematopoiesis. Nature 553, 212-216. 10.1038/nature25168.
- Rundberg Nilsson, A., Pronk, C.J., and Bryder, D. (2015). Probing hematopoietic stem cell function using serial transplantation: Seeding characteristics and the impact of stem cell purification. Exp Hematol *43*, 812-817.e811. 10.1016/j.exphem.2015.05.003.
- Sacchetti, B., Funari, A., Michienzi, S., Di Cesare, S., Piersanti, S., Saggio, I., Tagliafico, E., Ferrari, S., Robey, P.G., Riminucci, M., and Bianco, P. (2007). Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. Cell 131, 324-336. 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.025.
- Sacchetti, M., Rama, P., Bruscolini, A., and Lambiase, A. (2018). Limbal Stem Cell Transplantation: Clinical Results, Limits, and Perspectives. Stem Cells Int 2018, 8086269. 10.1155/2018/8086269.
- Saçma, M., Pospiech, J., Bogeska, R., de Back, W., Mallm, J.P., Sakk, V., Soller, K., Marka, G., Vollmer, A., Karns, R., et al. (2019). Haematopoietic stem cells in perisinusoidal niches are protected from ageing. Nat Cell Biol 21, 1309-1320. 10.1038/s41556-019-0418-y.
- Saiki, R.K., Scharf, S., Faloona, F., Mullis, K.B., Horn, G.T., Erlich, H.A., and Arnheim, N. (1985). Enzymatic amplification of beta-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. Science 230, 1350-1354. 10.1126/science.2999980.
- Saiyin, T., Kirkham, A.M., Bailey, A.J.M., Shorr, R., Pineault, N., Maganti, H.B., and Allan, D.S. (2023). Clinical Outcomes of Umbilical Cord Blood Transplantation Using Ex Vivo Expansion: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Studies. Transplant Cell Ther 29, 129.e121-129.e129. 10.1016/j.jtct.2022.11.007.
- Sakurai, M., Ishitsuka, K., Ito, R., Wilkinson, A.C., Kimura, T., Mizutani, E., Nishikii, H., Sudo, K., Becker, H.J., Takemoto, H., et al. (2023). Chemically defined cytokine-free expansion of human haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 615, 127-133. 10.1038/s41586-023-05739-9.
- Sánchez-Aguilera, A., Arranz, L., Martín-Pérez, D., García-García, A., Stavropoulou, V., Kubovcakova, L., Isern, J., Martín-Salamanca, S., Langa, X., Skoda, R.C., et al. (2014). Estrogen signaling selectively induces apoptosis of hematopoietic progenitors and myeloid neoplasms without harming steady-state hematopoiesis. Cell Stem Cell 15, 791-804. 10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.002.
- Sanjuan-Pla, A., Macaulay, I.C., Jensen, C.T., Woll, P.S., Luis, T.C., Mead, A., Moore, S., Carella, C., Matsuoka, S., Bouriez Jones, T., et al. (2013). Platelet-biased stem cells reside at the apex of the haematopoietic stem-cell hierarchy. Nature 502, 232-236. 10.1038/nature12495.
- Sato, T., Onai, N., Yoshihara, H., Arai, F., Suda, T., and Ohteki, T. (2009). Interferon regulatory factor-2 protects quiescent hematopoietic stem cells from type I interferon-dependent exhaustion. Nat Med 15, 696-700. 10.1038/nm.1973.
- Sauer, B. (1998). Inducible gene targeting in mice using the Cre/lox system. Methods 14, 381-392. 10.1006/meth.1998.0593.

- Sauer, B., and Henderson, N. (1989). Cre-stimulated recombination at loxP-containing DNA sequences placed into the mammalian genome. Nucleic Acids Res 17, 147-161. 10.1093/nar/17.1.147.
- Sawai, C.M., Babovic, S., Upadhaya, S., Knapp, D., Lavin, Y., Lau, C.M., Goloborodko, A., Feng, J., Fujisaki, J., Ding, L., et al. (2016). Hematopoietic Stem Cells Are the Major Source of Multilineage Hematopoiesis in Adult Animals. Immunity 45, 597-609. 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.08.007.
- Sawen, P., Eldeeb, M., Erlandsson, E., Kristiansen, T.A., Laterza, C., Kokaia, Z., Karlsson, G., Yuan, J., Soneji, S., Mandal, P.K., et al. (2018). Murine HSCs contribute actively to native hematopoiesis but with reduced differentiation capacity upon aging. Elife 7. 10.7554/eLife.41258.
- Säwén, P., Lang, S., Mandal, P., Rossi, D.J., Soneji, S., and Bryder, D. (2016). Mitotic History Reveals Distinct Stem Cell Populations and Their Contributions to Hematopoiesis. Cell Rep 14, 2809-2818. 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.02.073.
- Schaefer, B.C., Schaefer, M.L., Kappler, J.W., Marrack, P., and Kedl, R.M. (2001). Observation of antigen-dependent CD8+ T-cell/ dendritic cell interactions in vivo. Cell Immunol 214, 110-122. 10.1006/cimm.2001.1895.
- Schmitt, T.M., and Zúñiga-Pflücker, J.C. (2002). Induction of T cell development from hematopoietic progenitor cells by delta-like-1 in vitro. Immunity 17, 749-756. 10.1016/s1074-7613(02)00474-0.
- Schoedel, K.B., Morcos, M.N.F., Zerjatke, T., Roeder, I., Grinenko, T., Voehringer, D., Gothert, J.R., Waskow, C., Roers, A., and Gerbaulet, A. (2016). The bulk of the hematopoietic stem cell population is dispensable for murine steady-state and stress hematopoiesis. Blood *128*, 2285-2296. 10.1182/blood-2016-03-706010.
- Severe, N., Karabacak, N.M., Gustafsson, K., Baryawno, N., Courties, G., Kfoury, Y., Kokkaliaris, K.D., Rhee, C., Lee, D., Scadden, E.W., et al. (2019). Stress-Induced Changes in Bone Marrow Stromal Cell Populations Revealed through Single-Cell Protein Expression Mapping. Cell Stem Cell 25, 570-583.e577. 10.1016/j.stem.2019.06.003.
- Shapiro, A.M.J., Thompson, D., Donner, T.W., Bellin, M.D., Hsueh, W., Pettus, J., Wilensky, J., Daniels, M., Wang, R.M., Brandon, E.P., et al. (2021). Insulin expression and C-peptide in type 1 diabetes subjects implanted with stem cellderived pancreatic endoderm cells in an encapsulation device. Cell Rep Med 2, 100466. 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100466.
- Shimoto, M., Sugiyama, T., and Nagasawa, T. (2017). Numerous niches for hematopoietic stem cells remain empty during homeostasis. Blood *129*, 2124-2131. 10.1182/blood-2016-09-740563.
- Silver, L., and Palis, J. (1997). Initiation of murine embryonic erythropoiesis: a spatial analysis. Blood *89*, 1154-1164.
- Silvério-Alves, R., Kurochkin, I., Rydström, A., Vazquez Echegaray, C., Haider, J., Nicholls, M., Rode, C., Thelaus, L., Lindgren, A.Y., Ferreira, A.G., et al. (2023). GATA2 mitotic bookmarking is required for definitive haematopoiesis. Nat Commun 14, 4645. 10.1038/s41467-023-40391-x.

- Siminovitch, L., McCulloch, E.A., and Till, J.E. (1963). THE DISTRIBUTION OF COLONY-FORMING CELLS AMONG SPLEEN COLONIES. J Cell Comp Physiol *62*, 327-336. 10.1002/jcp.1030620313.
- Simsek, T., Kocabas, F., Zheng, J., Deberardinis, R.J., Mahmoud, A.I., Olson, E.N., Schneider, J.W., Zhang, C.C., and Sadek, H.A. (2010). The distinct metabolic profile of hematopoietic stem cells reflects their location in a hypoxic niche. Cell Stem Cell 7, 380-390. 10.1016/j.stem.2010.07.011.
- Snapper, C.M., Yamaguchi, H., Urban, J.F., Jr., and Finkelman, F.D. (1991). Induction of Ly-6A/E expression by murine lymphocytes after in vivo immunization is strictly dependent upon the action of IFN-alpha/beta and/or IFN-gamma. Int Immunol 3, 845-852. 10.1093/intimm/3.9.845.
- Spangrude, G.J., Heimfeld, S., and Weissman, I.L. (1988). Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science *241*, 58-62. 10.1126/science.2898810.
- Stadtfeld, M., and Graf, T. (2005). Assessing the role of hematopoietic plasticity for endothelial and hepatocyte development by non-invasive lineage tracing. Development 132, 203-213. 10.1242/dev.01558.
- Stark, R., Grzelak, M., and Hadfield, J. (2019). RNA sequencing: the teenage years. Nat Rev Genet 20, 631-656. 10.1038/s41576-019-0150-2.
- Sun, J., Ramos, A., Chapman, B., Johnnidis, J.B., Le, L., Ho, Y.J., Klein, A., Hofmann, O., and Camargo, F.D. (2014). Clonal dynamics of native haematopoiesis. Nature 514, 322-327. 10.1038/nature13824.
- Sutherland, H.J., Lansdorp, P.M., Henkelman, D.H., Eaves, A.C., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Functional characterization of individual human hematopoietic stem cells cultured at limiting dilution on supportive marrow stromal layers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 3584-3588. 10.1073/pnas.87.9.3584.
- Szilvassy, S.J., Humphries, R.K., Lansdorp, P.M., Eaves, A.C., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Quantitative assay for totipotent reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells by a competitive repopulation strategy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 8736-8740. 10.1073/pnas.87.22.8736.
- Szilvassy, S.J., Meyerrose, T.E., Ragland, P.L., and Grimes, B. (2001). Differential homing and engraftment properties of hematopoietic progenitor cells from murine bone marrow, mobilized peripheral blood, and fetal liver. Blood 98, 2108-2115. 10.1182/blood.v98.7.2108.
- Takizawa, H., Regoes, R.R., Boddupalli, C.S., Bonhoeffer, S., and Manz, M.G. (2011). Dynamic variation in cycling of hematopoietic stem cells in steady state and inflammation. J Exp Med 208, 273-284. 10.1084/jem.20101643.
- Takubo, K., Nagamatsu, G., Kobayashi, C.I., Nakamura-Ishizu, A., Kobayashi, H., Ikeda, E., Goda, N., Rahimi, Y., Johnson, R.S., Soga, T., et al. (2013). Regulation of glycolysis by Pdk functions as a metabolic checkpoint for cell cycle quiescence in hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 12, 49-61. 10.1016/j.stem.2012.10.011.
- Tay, J., Levesque, J.P., and Winkler, I.G. (2017). Cellular players of hematopoietic stem cell mobilization in the bone marrow niche. Int J Hematol 105, 129-140. 10.1007/s12185-016-2162-4.

- Thompson, E.N., Carlino, M.J., Scanlon, V.M., Grimes, H.L., and Krause, D.S. (2023). Assay optimization for the objective quantification of human multilineage colonyforming units. Exp Hematol 124, 36-44.e33. 10.1016/j.exphem.2023.05.007.
- Thoreen, C.C., Chantranupong, L., Keys, H.R., Wang, T., Gray, N.S., and Sabatini, D.M. (2012). A unifying model for mTORC1-mediated regulation of mRNA translation. Nature 485, 109-113. 10.1038/nature11083.
- Thorsteinsdottir, U., Kroon, E., Jerome, L., Blasi, F., and Sauvageau, G. (2001). Defining roles for HOX and MEIS1 genes in induction of acute myeloid leukemia. Mol Cell Biol *21*, 224-234. 10.1128/mcb.21.1.224-234.2001.
- Tikhonova, A.N., Dolgalev, I., Hu, H., Sivaraj, K.K., Hoxha, E., Cuesta-Domínguez, Á., Pinho, S., Akhmetzyanova, I., Gao, J., Witkowski, M., et al. (2019). The bone marrow microenvironment at single-cell resolution. Nature 569, 222-228. 10.1038/s41586-019-1104-8.
- Till, J.E., and Mc, C.E. (1961). A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiat Res 14, 213-222.
- Tothova, Z., Kollipara, R., Huntly, B.J., Lee, B.H., Castrillon, D.H., Cullen, D.E., McDowell, E.P., Lazo-Kallanian, S., Williams, I.R., Sears, C., et al. (2007). FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic oxidative stress. Cell *128*, 325-339. 10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.003.
- Trowbridge, E.A., Martin, J.F., Slater, D.N., Kishk, Y.T., Warren, C.W., Harley, P.J., and Woodcock, B. (1984). The origin of platelet count and volume. Clin Phys Physiol Meas 5, 145-170. 10.1088/0143-0815/5/3/007.
- Unnisa, Z., Clark, J.P., Roychoudhury, J., Thomas, E., Tessarollo, L., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A., Grimes, H.L., and Kumar, A.R. (2012). Meis1 preserves hematopoietic stem cells in mice by limiting oxidative stress. Blood 120, 4973-4981. 10.1182/blood-2012-06-435800.
- Velasco-Hernandez, T., Säwén, P., Bryder, D., and Cammenga, J. (2016). Potential Pitfalls of the Mx1-Cre System: Implications for Experimental Modeling of Normal and Malignant Hematopoiesis. Stem Cell Reports 7, 11-18. 10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.06.002.
- Venezia, T.A., Merchant, A.A., Ramos, C.A., Whitehouse, N.L., Young, A.S., Shaw, C.A., and Goodell, M.A. (2004). Molecular signatures of proliferation and quiescence in hematopoietic stem cells. PLoS Biol 2, e301. 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020301.
- Ventura, A., Kirsch, D.G., McLaughlin, M.E., Tuveson, D.A., Grimm, J., Lintault, L., Newman, J., Reczek, E.E., Weissleder, R., and Jacks, T. (2007). Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. Nature 445, 661-665. 10.1038/nature05541.
- Vitali, C., Bassani, C., Chiodoni, C., Fellini, E., Guarnotta, C., Miotti, S., Sangaletti, S., Fuligni, F., De Cecco, L., Piccaluga, P.P., et al. (2015). SOCS2 Controls Proliferation and Stemness of Hematopoietic Cells under Stress Conditions and Its Deregulation Marks Unfavorable Acute Leukemias. Cancer Res 75, 2387-2399. 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-14-3625.

- Voit, R.A., Tao, L., Yu, F., Cato, L.D., Cohen, B., Fleming, T.J., Antoszewski, M., Liao, X., Fiorini, C., Nandakumar, S.K., et al. (2023). A genetic disorder reveals a hematopoietic stem cell regulatory network co-opted in leukemia. Nat Immunol 24, 69-83. 10.1038/s41590-022-01370-4.
- Waghmare, S.K., Bansal, R., Lee, J., Zhang, Y.V., McDermitt, D.J., and Tumbar, T. (2008). Quantitative proliferation dynamics and random chromosome segregation of hair follicle stem cells. Embo j 27, 1309-1320. 10.1038/emboj.2008.72.
- Walter, D., Lier, A., Geiselhart, A., Thalheimer, F.B., Huntscha, S., Sobotta, M.C., Moehrle, B., Brocks, D., Bayindir, I., Kaschutnig, P., et al. (2015). Exit from dormancy provokes DNA-damage-induced attrition in haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 520, 549-552. 10.1038/nature14131.
- Wang, Z., Li, G., Tse, W., and Bunting, K.D. (2009). Conditional deletion of STAT5 in adult mouse hematopoietic stem cells causes loss of quiescence and permits efficient nonablative stem cell replacement. Blood 113, 4856-4865. 10.1182/blood-2008-09-181107.
- Wilkinson, A.C., Ishida, R., Kikuchi, M., Sudo, K., Morita, M., Crisostomo, R.V., Yamamoto, R., Loh, K.M., Nakamura, Y., Watanabe, M., et al. (2019). Long-term ex vivo haematopoietic-stem-cell expansion allows nonconditioned transplantation. Nature 571, 117-121. 10.1038/s41586-019-1244-x.
- Wilson, A., Laurenti, E., Oser, G., van der Wath, R.C., Blanco-Bose, W., Jaworski, M., Offner, S., Dunant, C.F., Eshkind, L., Bockamp, E., et al. (2008). Hematopoietic stem cells reversibly switch from dormancy to self-renewal during homeostasis and repair. Cell 135, 1118-1129. 10.1016/j.cell.2008.10.048.
- Wilson, A., Murphy, M.J., Oskarsson, T., Kaloulis, K., Bettess, M.D., Oser, G.M., Pasche, A.C., Knabenhans, C., Macdonald, H.R., and Trumpp, A. (2004). c-Myc controls the balance between hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. Genes Dev 18, 2747-2763. 10.1101/gad.313104.
- Wognum, A., and Szilvassy, S. (2015). Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs): isolation, culture, and assays. StemCell Technology *Version 6.0.0*.
- World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. (2013). Jama 310, 2191-2194. 10.1001/jama.2013.281053.
- Wu, F., Chen, Z., Liu, J., and Hou, Y. (2021). The Akt-mTOR network at the interface of hematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. Exp Hematol 103, 15-23. 10.1016/j.exphem.2021.08.009.
- Xie, Y., Yin, T., Wiegraebe, W., He, X.C., Miller, D., Stark, D., Perko, K., Alexander, R., Schwartz, J., Grindley, J.C., et al. (2009). Detection of functional haematopoietic stem cell niche using real-time imaging. Nature 457, 97-101. 10.1038/nature07639.
- Yamamoto, R., Morita, Y., Ooehara, J., Hamanaka, S., Onodera, M., Rudolph, K.L., Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2013). Clonal analysis unveils self-renewing lineage-restricted progenitors generated directly from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell 154, 1112-1126. 10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.007.
- Yamashita, M., and Passegue, E. (2019). TNF-alpha Coordinates Hematopoietic Stem Cell Survival and Myeloid Regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 25, 357-372 e357. 10.1016/j.stem.2019.05.019.
- Yamazaki, S., Ema, H., Karlsson, G., Yamaguchi, T., Miyoshi, H., Shioda, S., Taketo, M.M., Karlsson, S., Iwama, A., and Nakauchi, H. (2011). Nonmyelinating Schwann cells maintain hematopoietic stem cell hibernation in the bone marrow niche. Cell 147, 1146-1158. 10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.053.
- Yu, V.W.C., Yusuf, R.Z., Oki, T., Wu, J., Saez, B., Wang, X., Cook, C., Baryawno, N., Ziller, M.J., Lee, E., et al. (2016). Epigenetic Memory Underlies Cell-Autonomous Heterogeneous Behavior of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Cell 167, 1310-1322.e1317. 10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.045.
- Zhang, C.C., and Lodish, H.F. (2005). Murine hematopoietic stem cells change their surface phenotype during ex vivo expansion. Blood *105*, 4314-4320. 10.1182/blood-2004-11-4418.
- Zhang, J., Niu, C., Ye, L., Huang, H., He, X., Tong, W.G., Ross, J., Haug, J., Johnson, T., Feng, J.Q., et al. (2003). Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. Nature 425, 836-841. 10.1038/nature02041.
- Zhang, M., Yin, L., Zhang, K., Sun, W., Yang, S., Zhang, B., Salzman, P., Wang, W., Liu, C., Vidyasagar, S., et al. (2012). Response patterns of cytokines/chemokines in two murine strains after irradiation. Cytokine 58, 169-177. 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.12.023.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, S., Xia, J., and Liu, F. (2018). Hematopoietic Hierarchy An Updated Roadmap. Trends Cell Biol 28, 976-986. 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.06.001.
- Zhou, X., Zhang, Z., Feng, J.Q., Dusevich, V.M., Sinha, K., Zhang, H., Darnay, B.G., and de Crombrugghe, B. (2010). Multiple functions of Osterix are required for bone growth and homeostasis in postnatal mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107, 12919-12924. 10.1073/pnas.0912855107.





Department of Laboratory Medicine

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:8 ISBN 978-91-8021-501-5 ISSN 1652-8220

